

# SEXUAL HARASSMENT AT THE WORKPLACE OVERCOMING BARRIERS TO JUSTICE

September 2023

# **Acknowledgments**

This study was compiled by the legal team at Verité Research. Eana Ibrahim was the lead researcher and author of the study. Overall research support was provided by Gayathri Mohan and Chanmini Perera. Editorial supervision was provided by Nishana Weerasooriya and Dinushika Dissanayake. The team is especially indebted to Dinushika Dissanayake for her invaluable feedback and support during the study. The team also wishes to thank several others who guided, shared their feedback and helped with other aspects of the research including legal practitioners, civil society organisations and entrepreneurs in interviews and roundtable discussions held in Colombo.

Sexual Harassment at The Workplace: Overcoming Barriers to Justice.

Colombo: Verité Research, 2023.

55 p, ; 28cm.

ISBN 978-624-5514-29-8

i. 333.133 DDC 23

1. Sexual harassment

- 2. Sexual harassment-Law and legislation
- 3. Sex discrimination in employment

Verité Research aims to be a leader in the provision of information and analysis for negotiations and policy making in Asia, while also promoting dialogue and education for social development in the region. The firm contributes actively to research and dialogue in the areas of economics, sociology, politics, law, and media, and provides services in data collection, information verification, strategy development, and decision analysis.

Cover image by Adrian Marcus, prompt: a large painting showing people of many walks of life sitting on the floor, in the style of thick impasto texture, still life focus, krenz cushart, paula rego, dark white and cyan, samuel peploe, high detail, extremely well made —ar 105:128 —s 750, generated by Midjourney AI, v5.2, 24/10/2023, published here.

Email comments to: publications@veriteresearch.org

Copyright © 2023 Verité Research Pvt Ltd. All rights reserved.

# **Contents**

Acknowledgments	2
Introduction	5
Methodology	8
Chapter 1: Defining sexual harassment	9
1.1 Quid pro quo harassment	9
1.2 Hostile work environment	10
1.3 Subtle sexual harassment	10
Chapter 2: Legal gap analysis	11
2.1 International instruments	11
2.2 Legal gap analysis of the international standard vs local framework	14
Chapter 3:Current Sri Lankan legal framework	17
3.1 Barriers to justice under the criminal justice system	18
3.2 Lack of a specific definition of Sexual harassment under the civil law	20
Chapter 4: Institution and Policy framework	21
4.1 Ministry of Labour and Foreign Employment	21
4.2 Attorney General's Department	22
4.3 Police	22
4.4 Court System	23
4.5 National Action Plan	23
Chapter 5: International implementation of legislation	24
5.1 Countries with legal measures to prevent sexual harassment at the workplace	24
5.2 Country specific examples outlined by the ILO for measures against sexual harassment at the workplace, in compliance with ILO Convention 190.	33

#### Contents

Chapte	er 6: Recommendations	. 37
6.1.	Legislative Reform	. 38
6.2	Attorney General's Department with the aid of the Law Commission/Legal aid	41
6.3	Ministry of Foreign Affairs	. 42
6.4	Ministry of Labour/Department of Labour	. 42
6.5	Ministry of Women, Child Affairs and Social Empowerment	. 42
6.6	Ministry of Education	. 43
6.7	Small and Medium Enterprises & Multi-National Corporations	. 44
6.8	Chambers of Commerce	. 45
6.9	Trade Unions	. 46
6.10	Civil Society Organisations	. 46
Endnot	tes	.48

### Introduction

exual harassment in the workplace is a worldwide occurrence that has an impact on victims/survivors on three levels: an individual, familial, and societal. 1 It is a violation of the right to dignity, security, health and well-being.<sup>2</sup> The impacts of sexual harassment can be detrimental to mental and physical health in terms of inducing stress, anxiety and depression over long periods of time resulting in physical ailments such as blood pressure, obesity and hypertension.3 It may contribute to higher turnover of employees as victims/ survivors exit a company that is not effectively providing protection from sexual harassment and abuse in the workplace and protecting the right to work. In addition to human rights violations and economic, social and physical losses incurred by individual employees, the negative impact on a victim's health caused from sexual harassment may lead to disengagement from work which in turn results in economic losses to the company. 4 Individual economic losses incurred to companies may impact the country's economy in the long run when labour force participation is reduced. 5 This is particularly problematic in countries like Sri Lanka especially during a period of economic crisis and political instability. 6 Moreover, workplace sexual harassment also violates the fundamental rights of workers such as the inalienable right to work, and the right to work with dignity.7 Key International instruments have condemned sexual harassment at the workplace and required states to take action and enforce relevant measures to prevent and address the occurrence of sexual harassment at work.8

Global statistics derived in 2022 paint a troubling picture on the prevalence of harassment and violence in workplaces across the world, affecting over one in five individuals in their employment.9 Such a widespread issue not only hampers individual well-being but also has significant economic consequences. In Sri Lanka, almost 6 working days are lost by companies each year due to the prevalence of workplace violence and harassment equating to a potential loss of 1.7 million dollars annually. 10 Such lost working days in employment can be associated with low productivity, lack of punctuality in attending work on time, leaving work early and missing work.11 Furthermore, sexual harassment can result in reputational damage, financial burdens, and legal liabilities for companies. 12 Similarly, research conducted in the United States as reported by the Harvard Business Review indicated that one sexual harassment claim can drastically reduce public perceptions of an organisation's fairness in how men and women are treated and in terms of hiring and promoting them.<sup>13</sup>

In 2022, the female labour force participation in Sri Lanka was recorded to be low, at just 33.1 percent of women in comparison to men which was at 70.7%. <sup>14</sup> In 2021, Sri Lanka ranked 116 out of 156 countries in the world for having one of the biggest gender gaps in terms of labour force participation. <sup>15</sup> Findings of low female labour force participation can be associated with a restrictive legislative environment, and the status as well as nature of employment in the country, and the inability to adapt to working environments which keep changing due to a lack of skills and/or qualifications. <sup>16</sup> Furthermore

sexual harassment is also a factor that contributes to low female participation in work.<sup>17</sup> Three fifths of women would take up employment if they were assured that they would not be vulnerable to sexual harassment in the workplace.<sup>18</sup>

A report published by the International Labour Organisation (ILO) in 2016, which uses Key Person Interviews (KPI's) of employers in the formal private sector and literature surveys of female employees in the formal and informal sector, found a significant lack of awareness about the seriousness of legal provisions on sexual harassment, especially in regional areas of Sri Lanka.19 Sexual harassment was stated in the 2016 ILO report to be a factor that discourages women from applying for work in sectors such as the transportation or the construction industry.<sup>20</sup> The ILO report also identified that low female labour force participation as indicated by KPI's arises from the lack of an approach to handle sexual harassment at work. The KPI's in the ILO report emphasised the need for a proactive approach in dealing with issues of sexual harassment at the workplace in order to retain female labour participation.<sup>21</sup>

Moreover, a UNDP report published in 2021, highlighted the positive impact on female labour force participation from strengthened legal and institutional infrastructure in Sri Lanka. Sexual harassment as such prevents women from meaningful participation at work by reducing the availability of choices such as the sector of work, decision to pursue senior or managerial roles, in addition to affecting the performance and productivity at work.  $^{23}$ 

While it is recognized in the Sri Lankan context that women are vulnerable to being sexually harassed in the workplace, this type of harassment is not only confined to women. Working men are also vulnerable to being sexually harassed in the workplace, <sup>24</sup> in addition to other gender identities such as trans persons and LGBTQI persons. <sup>25</sup> Moreover, workplace sexual harassment may also add to existing inequalities within the local economic framework for different groups of persons in the Sri Lankan community such as persons with disabilities, <sup>26</sup> youth, migrant workers, and persons from the LGBTQI community. <sup>27</sup> Persons from these minority groups have

a higher chance of being victimised.<sup>28</sup> Research on the victimisation of minority groups at work in the formal sector, conducted by Equal Ground in 2019, revealed that only 38% of employers had mechanisms in place to address sexual harassment. 53% of employers had no gender-related policies and 56% did not have inclusive employment policies for LGBTQI persons.<sup>29</sup>

Moreover, in Sri Lanka employee rights activists, trade unions and business stakeholders discovered that employers often ignore instances of workplace harassment of LGBTQI persons. 30 The lack of attention to these issues was attributed to the existing legal framework in Sri Lanka that criminalizes same sex relations.<sup>31</sup> This legal stance could embolden employers to disregard cases of sexual harassment in the workplace against LGBTQI persons.<sup>32</sup> Additionally, staff with a disability were found to have experienced higher levels of sexual harassment (over 11% more) than employees without a disability.<sup>33</sup> These findings are consistent with global statistics on the higher likelihood of persons with disabilities being subject to sexual harassment than persons without.34 The Committee on Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) has 'repeatedly recognized the intersectional discrimination that is faced by women with disabilities.'35 'Persons with disabilities experience discrimination in laws and practices due to societies being structured on the assumption of ableness and disabilities not being accommodated'. 36

Sri Lanka's current macroeconomic crisis has resulted in needing external aid such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF) program. To One of the areas of focus of the IMF Agreement is to reform the labour market through promoting female labour force participation, which was severely impacted during the crisis. Ras per the IMF Agreement, in consideration of a large gender gap in employment, the stipulated labour market reforms under the program will target the promotion of female labour force participation. As highlighted above, sexual harassment at the workplace is a factor that reduces female labour force participation as it prevents women and other vulnerable persons from seeking employment and from being fully productive at the workplace.

Addressing sexual harassment at the workplace can therefore help companies mitigate and redress issues of labour force participation, thereby promoting economic growth which Sri Lanka requires to remedy the current economic crisis. 41 Moreover, employers can build and sustain a good reputation by providing international standards of labour rights to employees. 42 The need to redress sexual harassment at the workplace is reflected in the statistics of the economic cost of sexual harassment at the workplace, through the survey conducted on the detailed estimates of what workplace violence and harassment costs companies' in Sri Lanka. 43 The existence of strong national laws and accountability processes are a crucial foundation to tackle sexual harassment in the workplace and institutionalized discrimination based on gender.

This report aims to provide a legal gap analysis on sexual harassment through a non-discriminative lens of gender

and sexual construct. The legal gap analysis will compare Sri Lanka's international obligations against the national laws on sexual harassment at the workplace. Accordingly, recommendations will be provided based on the findings of the gap analysis and best practices, focusing on legislative and policy reform. Chapter 1 will define sexual harassment and its forms. Thereafter, chapter 2 will provide a legal gap analysis in consideration of international standards that are binding and non-binding. Chapter 3 will outline the current legal framework in Sri Lanka that addresses sexual harassment at the workplace, along with inherent systemic issues in the justice system. Chapter 4 will explore the institutional framework of Sri Lanka, followed by a brief outline of the local institutions that deal with sexual harassment in employment in chapter 5. Chapter 6 provides an overview of international implementation of legislation which is followed by recommendations of the report in chapter 7.

# Methodology

his study is primarily based on desk-based qualitative research. The study encompassed a comprehensive review of international sources and domestic legislation. A limited aspect of primary research was obtained through limited key informant interviews (KIIs) and roundtable discussions. Three KIIs were conducted from September 2023 – October 2023, with an Attorney at Law; representative from the International Labour Organization, and a representative from a multinational company. All KIIs have been kept confidential. Through-out the study there will be partial attribution to informants but not complete attribution to maintain confidentiality at the request of

these informants. Additionally, there were two roundtable discussions held in September 2023, one with Civil Society Organisations (CSOs) and the second with representatives from the Private Sector. One Key Informant Interview (KII) was conducted in person, while two KIIs were held using virtual platforms. The roundtable discussions were conducted in person. The private sector roundtable had 12 participants, while the CSOs roundtable had 7 participants. This multi-faceted approach aimed to provide a nuanced and comprehensive understanding of workplace sexual harassment in Sri Lanka, laying the groundwork for informed analysis and recommendations in this report.

# CHAPTER 1: **Defining sexual harassment**

everal United Nations agencies such as UN Women, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) and United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) define sexual harassment as 'unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature (any unwelcome sexual advance, request for sexual favour, verbal or physical conduct or gesture of a sexual nature, or any other behaviour of a sexual nature) that might reasonably be expected or be perceived to cause offence or humiliation.'44

'Unwelcome conduct' does not extend to 'involuntary conduct'. 45 A victim may consent or agree to certain conduct and actively participate in it even though it is offensive and objectionable. However, in order for the

conduct to qualify as sexual harassment, the sexual conduct is subject to becoming unwelcome whenever the person that the conduct is directed towards, considers it unwelcome. 46

There are three internationally recognised types of sexual harassment that can occur in the workplace that have been identified by international organisations such as the United Nations Women Watch<sup>47</sup> and the American Bar Association: a) quid pro quo harassment, b) hostile work environment, c) subtle sexual harassment.<sup>48</sup> Understanding the specific types of harassment can make it easier to identify incidents of sexual harassment as and when they occur and find appropriate solutions for redress.

#### 1.1 QUID PRO QUO HARASSMENT

This type of harassment occurs where receiving a job benefit, such as an increase in salary/wages, a promotion, bonus or continued employment, is made conditional(implicitly or explicitly) on the victim acceding to demands to engage in some form of sexual behaviour.<sup>49</sup> Quid pro quo harassment is limited to the

relationship of an employer with supervisory authority over the employee. An employer will manipulate his/her authority to decline or permit a job benefit, by subjecting the employee to sexual harassment, as a condition to accept the job benefit.<sup>50</sup>

#### 1.2 HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT

The frequency of the occurrence of the acts that can be construed as sexual harassment (offensive comments, unwelcome contact of a physical nature, offensive sexual materials etc.) will determine the 'hostility' of the environment. If such acts/conduct become part of the regular work environment, it is considered hostile work environment harassment. Such harassment usually creates an intimidating working environment

which may affect the performance of an employee. <sup>51</sup> Singular and isolated incidents do not usually fall into this category unless the severity of the incident is egregious. Unlike quid pro quo harassment which can only be committed by a supervisory authority, a hostile work environment can be created by co-workers/managers and even customers. <sup>52</sup>

#### 1.3 SUBTLE SEXUAL HARASSMENT

Although not a legal term, this type of behavior can occur at the workplace that can be conducive to hostile environment or quid pro quo sexual harassment. Subtle acts of harassment include sexual innuendos, jokes etc.<sup>53</sup>

# CHAPTER 2: **Legal gap analysis**

#### 2.1 INTERNATIONAL INSTRUMENTS

This section analyses the international standards, in comparison to the local Sri Lankan legal framework on sexual harassment at the workplace. The analysis identifies that the Sri Lankan legal framework has many gaps in the law in comparison with the international standards. Table 1 below outlines the status of Sri Lanka in relation to the relevant international standards.

# 2.1.1 Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW)

CEDAW is the leading international convention that strives to achieve gender equality and empower women and girls. <sup>54</sup> The spirit of the convention intends to reaffirm the dignity and the advancement of women in achieving their full development on equal grounds with men. <sup>55</sup> The CEDAW committee that consists of independent experts, monitors the implementation of the treaty, which has resulted in countering the effects of discrimination against women and addressing the lack of legal protection in countries that have ratified it. <sup>56</sup>

Article 11 of the treaty outlines that states should 'take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination against women in the field of employment in order to ensure, on a basis of equality of men and women, the same rights'.<sup>57</sup> Sri Lanka has not made any reservations to CEDAW during or after ratification.<sup>58</sup> Hence,

the provisions of this article are binding on Sri Lanka as a state party that has ratified the convention.

The Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, in addition to monitoring the implementation of the CEDAW, makes recommendations on issues that affect women, which it deems requiring more attention from state parties. Recommendations made by the Committee and its General Comments reflect the Committee's interpretation of the provisions of CEDAW, thematic issues and their method of work.<sup>59</sup> These recommendations are non-binding but considered as authoritative statements that clarify and describe the state's duties under CEDAW.60 The General Comments also aim to clarify and suggest reporting duties of State parties and ways to implement treaty provisions. 61 General Recommendation No.12 on 'Violence Against Women' (VAW) specifically recommends state parties to report on legislation and other measures that are in place to protect women from violence, with specific reference to sexual harassment at the workplace. 62 The 1979 UN Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) does not expressly refer to violence against women. The CEDAW Committee first sought to define violence against women through General Recommendation No.19, which defined it as 'violence which is directed against a woman because she is a woman or that affects women disproportionately'.63

General Recommendation No.19 on 'Violence Against Women' (VAW) introduced in 1992, focused on elimination of violence against women which comprehensively defined sexual harassment at work. 64 This Recommendation is CEDAW's key recommendation on VAW. General Recommendation No.35 on 'gender-based violence against women' is an update to General Recommendation No.19. General Recommendation No.35 highlights gender-based violence and its consequences and impact on women, exacerbated by economic, political, religious, cultural and environmental factors. 65 For instance, the definition of violence against women (gender-based violence against women) stresses the social causes of it such as male privilege, entitlement etc. Moreover, Recommendation 35 also recognises the intersectional nature of VAW. The updated Recommendation also refers to internet-mediated forms of violence against women. 66

#### 2.1.2 International Labour Organisation (ILO)

The ILO is a unique tripartite<sup>67</sup> UN agency that sets international standards for labour and promotes decent working standards for all persons.<sup>68</sup> ILO Convention No.190 and its supplementing Recommendation No.206 set out the first international standards on the prevention, elimination and remedy to harassment at work. ILO Convention No.190 was adopted and came into force on 25 June 2019.<sup>69</sup> These international standards indicate that sexual harassment at work is not acceptable.<sup>70</sup>

ILO Convention No.190 is an all-inclusive convention on sexual harassment at the workplace. The articles stipulated in the convention are the ultimate standard in adopting a labour framework on the prevention of sexual harassment at work. The convention is applicable to all spaces of work, including public and private sector employment as well as the formal and informal economy in both rural and urban areas and even extends to accommodation provided by an employer. It is also applicable to and includes protection for informal economy workers. Workplace policies on sexual harassment are required to be formulated as well as national policies on the same. However, Sri Lanka has not yet ratified this Convention. Key Informant Interview (KII) with representative from the ILO country office in Sri Lanka noted

that out of the four votes from Sri Lanka at the International Labour Conference (ILC), one union delegate voted, the government had two votes and the employers abstained from voting to pass the 190 Convention. The KII suggested that employers are cautious in being held responsible due to the nature of 'employer's liability' being broadly defined under the convention.

The first global survey on experiences of people in terms of harassment at work was an initiative of the ILO.<sup>76</sup> The survey which was conducted in 2021, encompassed roughly 125,000 interviews in 121 countries and territories using a standard set of questions which were translated into the relevant country's major languages.<sup>77</sup> Sri Lanka was not included in country list. The findings of the survey explored statistics on the frequency as well as the immensity of violence and harassment at work. Insights was provided into the main forms of violence and harassment and reasons that prevent people from talking about harassment.<sup>78</sup> A sample guide was also published for employers and workers as a guideline on how to prevent, address and respond if there are cases of sexual harassment at work.<sup>79</sup>

#### 2.1.3 UN Guiding Principles

While the state has a duty to fill the lacuna in the law, the same responsibility can be placed complementarily upon corporate organisations to have internal policies that bridge the gap that is left in the law. The UN guiding principles which were endorsed by the Human Rights Council in 2011 and considered to be the 'world's most authoritative framework for guiding responsible business practices', aims to act as a framework for businesses to follow human rights in their practices. These principles also advocate the revision of state legislation that allows for discrimination whilst stressing the need for active action to eradicate sexual harassment.

Among these guiding principles are the requirement for businesses to respect internationally recognized human rights such as the fundamental rights outlined in the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work.<sup>82</sup> The rights enshrined in this ILO Declaration

include the requirement by employers to ensure a healthy and safe working environment for employees.<sup>83</sup>

### 2.1.4 UNDP -Sustainable Development Goals (SDG's)

The sustainable development goals came into force in 2015 with the objective of ending poverty in all its forms, addressing climate change and combating inequalities. While these goals are not legally binding, they are applicable to all countries who are expected to establish national frameworks to achieve the sustainable goals, follow-up and review action that has been taken. SDG 5 and 8 encapsulate the need to eliminate and prevent sexual exploitation of women and the promotion of safe and secure working environments free of sexual harassment. Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security aim to contribute towards achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Moreover, focus area 06 of the action plan concentrates on the protection of women and girls against sexual violence.84

#### 2.1.5 UN - General Assembly Resolution

Article 2 of General Assembly Resolution 48/104 which was passed without a vote, states that violence against women encompasses 'sexual harassment and intimidation at work.'85 The resolutions that are passed by the UN General Assembly are usually by way of voting and although not legally binding, represent the morals and opinions of the world community, from which the importance of the subject matter may be inferred.86

The more recent General Assembly Resolution 73/148, passed in 2018 also without a vote, on the 'Intensification of efforts to prevent and eliminate all forms of violence against women and girls: sexual harassment',

advocates the adoption and strengthening of legislation that addresses sexual harassment, criminalising it where appropriate and to ensure that complaint mechanisms and reporting procedures are available as well as appropriate remedies. Enforcement is encouraged through police and the judiciary to grant remedies whilst avoiding revictimization.<sup>87</sup>

### 2.1.6 International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR)

The ICESCR strives to further the economic, social and cultural rights of persons as well as civil and political rights by encouraging states to adopt measures that will help achieve these rights. 88 Article 7(b) of the treaty recognizes the right of all persons to just and favorable conditions of work including safe and healthy working conditions. 89

An interpretation of Article 7 which is provided by the Committee for Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR) in General Recommendation number 23 outlines the fact that freedom from sexual harassment at work is included as a right of safe conditions at work, under Article 7.90 This recommendation calls for states to employ legislation to protect as well as penalise sexual harassment at work with a broad definition on sexual harassment which is also in reference to harassment on the basis of sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability and race. Furthermore, this recommendation also calls for a national policy to be applied in the workplace, extending to both the public and the private sector. Sri Lanka is party to the ICESCR and acceded to the treaty in 1980. Although Sri Lanka acceded to the ICESCR there has been no enabling legislation in domestic law on the ICESCR. The Sri Lankan Courts have nevertheless referred to the ICESCR in cases such as Gerald Perera v OIC, Wattala Police Station in utilizing rights under the treaty such as the right to best standards of health.91

# 2.2 LEGAL GAP ANALYSIS OF THE INTERNATIONAL STANDARD VS LOCAL FRAMEWORK

Table 1 below provides the summarised legal gap analysis which compares Sri Lanka's current legal framework with the relevant international standards. Sri Lanka is a dualist country, therefore, despite ratifying an international convention, the country must enact enabling legislation.  $^{92}$  Article 27(15) of the Constitution of Sri Lanka establishes the need to foster respect for international law and treaty obligations in the enactment of laws.  $^{93}$  The requirement of state duty to follow Article 27(15) is echoed in the case of *Weerawansa v AG*,  $^{94}$  where

the Court held that the citizens of the country must be given the benefit of international law and treaty obligations. Additionally, *Bulankulama and others v. Secretary, Minister of Industrial Development and others*<sup>95</sup> outlined the fact that international standards may be soft law but they cannot be negated as Sri Lanka being a party to the United Nations. Therefore, these international standards will be binding if 'expressly enacted or become a part of the domestic law through adoption by the superior Courts and by the Supreme Court in their decisions. '96

Table 1 - Legal Gap Analysis: International Standard vs. Local Framework

CONVENTION/ RECOMMENDATION	DESCRIPTION OF SALIENT PROVISION	STATUS IN SRI LANKA	LEGAL GAP ANALYSIS
CEDAW Article 11	States Parties shall take all ap- propriate measures to eliminate discrimination against women in the field of employment in order	Sri Lanka is a State party to CEDAW which was ratified on 5 Oc- tober 1981. <sup>97</sup>	Article 12 of the Sri Lankan Constitution guarantees equality for all persons. However, there are no specific laws in place to ensure equality in employment.
	to ensure, equality between men and women.		However, General Recommendation No.12 requires that legislation that provides protection from sexual harassment at work be enacted on an equal basis.
CEDAW General Recommendation No.12	Advocates for State Parties to include legislation on protection from sexual harassment at work.		There is no statute in the labour law framework that directly addresses sexual harassment at work. The statutes that indirectly cover the offence have been recognized to be insufficient. Moreover, CEDAW concluding observations on Sri Lanka call for the 'collection of disaggregated data on sexual harassment in both the public and private sectors, including on the sanctions imposed on perpetrators'. Moreover, 1991
			Although sexual harassment is an offence under section 345 of the Penal Code which covers sexual harassment in the workplace there is a lack of disaggregated data on sexual harassment in the workplace and measures taken to address such cases.

CONVENTION/ RECOMMENDATION	DESCRIPTION OF SALIENT PROVISION	STATUS IN SRI LANKA	LEGAL GAP ANALYSIS
CEDAW General Recommendation No.19	Commented on Article 11: Sexual harassment at the workplace was identified as a barrier to equality in employment.		Labour laws do not specifically address sexual harassment at work. Moreover, labour laws such as the Shop and Office Employees Act No. 19 of 1954 and the Factories Ordinance No. 45 of 1942 limit the number of hours that women are able to work and restrict women from doing night work which increases the inequality gap in employment and reflects the gender-based discrimination in accessing work.
CEDAW General Recommendation No.35  CESCR General Recommendation No.23 of 2016	Analyses gender-based violence against women and recognizes the prohibition of such violence to have become an international customary law norm.		There are no laws or regulations or action plans that suggest/acknowledge that the prohibition of gender-based violence has become a customary norm. However, domestic laws on the subject include the Prevention of Domestic Violence Act No.34 of 2005 and Chapter XVI of the penal code. The Chapter XVI of the penal code has offences based on violence but does not fit within the scheme of domestic violence. <sup>100</sup>
			CESCR recommends that Sri Lanka effectively implement the national plan of action to address sexual and gender-based violence by ensuring that victims are not denied the right to make complaints in Tamil by offering interpretation at police desks, in government departments and at desks in hospitals for victims of gender-based violence.
ILO Convention No.190 and supplementing Recommendation No.206	The first international treaty that seeks to end violence and harassment at work. <sup>101</sup>	Not ratified by Sri Lanka	Sri Lanka has not ratified this Convention. There are no laws and policies governing sexual harassment at the workplace as extensively as required by this Convention. 102 Germany, in the fourth UPR Cycle of Sri Lanka, recommended adopting the Violence and Harassment Convention, 2019 (No. 190), of the International Labour Organisation. 103 However, S.345 of the Penal Code covers sexual harassment at the workplace and the Bribery Act as well as Anti-Corruption Act recognizes sexual bribery in the workplace.

CONVENTION/ RECOMMENDATION	DESCRIPTION OF SALIENT PROVISION	STATUS IN SRI LANKA	LEGAL GAP ANALYSIS
ICESCR Article 7	Provides for the right of everyone to the enjoyment of just and favourable conditions of work including safe and healthy working conditions.	Ratified by Sri Lanka in 1980 <sup>104</sup>	Sri Lanka has not incorporated the treaty into domestic law. However, certain laws in the labour framework provide some protection to foster safe and healthy working conditions such as the Shop and Office Employees (Regulation of Employment & Remuneration) Act No. 19 of 1954, Wages Boards Ordinance No. 27 of 1941, Factories Ordinance No. 45 of 1942, Industrial Disputes Act No. 43 of 1950, the Employment of Women, Young Persons, and
CESCR General Recommendation No.23 of 2016	Emphasises the right of all persons to just and favourable conditions of work, commenting on article 7 of ICESCR and calls for specific legislation on sexual harassment at work.		the Children Act No. 47 of 1956.  There is no specific legislation on protection against sexual harassment at the workplace. However, Section 345 of the Penal Code covers the offence of sexual harassment which includes harassment at the workplace.
UNDP SDG goal 5 (target 5.2) <sup>105</sup> SDG goal 8 (target 8.8)	5.2 Eliminate all forms of violence against all women and girls in the public and private spheres, including trafficking and sexual and other types of exploitation.	Not legally binding but universally applicable to all countries	Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Secu- rity Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security 2023-2027 aims to contribute towards achieving these Sustain-
	8.8 Protect labour rights and promote safe and secure working environments for all workers, including migrant workers, in particular women migrants, and those in precarious employment.		able Development Goals (SDGs). <sup>106</sup>
UN General Assembly Resolution 48/104 <sup>107</sup>	Declaration on the Elimination of violence against women	Recommendation	Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security 2023-2027 focuses on the protection of wom-
UN General Assembly Resolution 73/148	Intensification of efforts to prevent and eliminate all forms of violence against women and girls: sexual harassment	Recommendation	en and girls against violence, including sexual violence. 108

# CHAPTER 3: Current Sri Lankan legal framework

his chapter delves into the intricate landscape of sexual harassment in Sri Lanka's legal framework, encompassing both criminal and civil dimensions. It becomes evident that while certain provisions exist, there are notable gaps and systemic barriers that demand scrutiny. In particular the absence of a dedicated workplace sexual harassment offense, coupled with systemic issues such as legal delays, demanding burdens of proof, and resource constraints, underscores

the complexity of the issue within the criminal justice system. Furthermore, this chapter sheds light on the limitations in addressing sexual harassment within the civil law and emphasises the necessity for legal reform to ensure comprehensive protection and justice for all. Table 2 below identifies the provisions relating to sexual harassment in Sri Lanka's criminal and civil legal framework.

Table 2 - Legal framework of Sri Lanka on Sexual Harassment

CRIMINAL LAW		CIVILLAW	
ACT	DESCRIPTION	ACT	DESCRIPTION
Penal Code Section 345	'Unwelcome sexual advances by words or action used by a person in authority, to a working place or any other place, shall constitute the offence of sexual harassment.'109	Industrial Disputes Act No. 43 of 1950	An Act to provide for the prevention, investigation and settlement of industrial disputes, and connected matters
Bribery Act No.11 of 1954 (repealed by the Anti Corruption Act No. 9 of 2023)	The Court has interpreted the definition of bribery in the Act as accommodating sexual forms of gratification. <sup>110</sup>		
Anti-Corruption Act No.9 of 2023	The offence of gratification involves sexual favors which qualifies as sexual harassment. <sup>111</sup> Gratification in this context takes place in the work environment.		

An analysis of the provisions in Table 2 above reveals that there is a lacuna in the law, in terms of provisions against sexual harassment in the workplace, in both the criminal and civil legal framework of the country. Section

3.1 below discusses the provisions in the criminal law on sexual harassment in conjunction with systemic issues in the legal framework and Section 3.2 below discusses sexual harassment under civil law.

#### 3.1 BARRIERS TO JUSTICE UNDER THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

The domestic law of Sri Lanka has the elements of the UN definition where the law defines sexual harassment in the Penal Code as harassment by assault/criminal force by action or words causing sexual annoyance or harassment to the recipient. The criminal law has two specific deficiencies: (1) Section 345 narrowly defines sexual harassment at the workplace; and (2) There are entrenched barriers in the criminal justice system such as delays in justice. These will be explained in detail in the sections below.

#### 3.1.1 Narrow definition of sexual harassment

Section 345 of the Penal Code can accommodate offences related to sexual harassment at the work-place, there is no specific comprehensive provision in the Penal Code for workplace sexual harassment in Sri Lanka. There are two challenges with the definition: (i) it does not encompass the required definitions identified under international law; and (ii) it does not specifically articulate digitally enabled workplace sexual harassment. This section also briefly looks at the Bribery Act No. 9 of 1980 and the Anti-Corruption Act No. 9 of 2023 and its scope in addressing sexual harassment.

The explanation given in section 345 of the Penal Code expressly refers to 'unwelcome conduct' by a 'person in authority', however it does not cover all aspects of sexual harassment at the workplace. 112 This section is inclusive of some types of sexual harassment by way of words and actions that may include assault and the use of criminal force. The adjoining punishment for this offence is either imprisonment extending to five years or a fine or both. The Court has the discretion to award compensation to the victim of the offence based on the injuries caused to the victim. However the ILO Convention 190 provides a broad definition for violence and harassment in the realm of employment, which encompasses a wide range of harmful actions and threats, including gender-based violence and harassment. The Penal Code definition on sexual harassment on the other hand is limited in its scope of application in comparison to the definition of the ILO Convention 190.

Countries with legal measures to combat sexual harassment provide a more comprehensive definition for sexual harassment within criminal law, encompassing degrading, intimidating behavior, and pressure to engage in sexual acts across various contexts. To rinstance Article 341 of the Chad Penal Code provision as amended in 2017 covers instances of using significant pressure, even if not recurring, to obtain a sexual act, whether for the perpetrator's benefit or that of a third party. Gabon's Penal Code provision on the other hand categorizes harassment as an offense against morals, ensuring a broad approach to sexual harassment offences.

In addition offences such as voyeurism are not adequately addressed in the Sri Lankan Criminal law framework. 116 Voyeurism can occur at the workplace either by recording or physically watching persons in private spaces (in the bathroom etc). 117 The Sri Lankan Penal Code provision does not also include specific definition for digital violence as a form of sexual harassment. Amendments to articles 209 and 236 of the Mexico City Criminal code provides enhanced penalties to offenses that involves digital or electronic media, communication devices, or the use of intimate sexual content in images, audio, or videos. 118 This therefore portrays that specific elements and criteria for sexual harassment in the Sri Lankan Penal Code may seem limited and does not adequately address all forms of workplace misconduct that should be criminalized. Addressing these gaps are essential for comprehensive protection against sexual harassment.

In the case of Republic of Sri Lanka v. Kathubdeen, <sup>119</sup> the accused faced charges of soliciting sexual favors for gratification. The accused was indicted in the High Court of Colombo under the former Bribery Act for soliciting and attempting to accept gratification (sexual intercourse) with the complainant as a reward/inducement for arranging a transfer. It was held by the Court that demanding sexual favors in exchange for a job transfer is within the definition of a 'bribe' under the Bribery Act. <sup>120</sup> Section 90 of the Bribery Act is now replaced by the Anti-Corruption Act No. 9 of 2023, and defines

gratification to include among other things, any sexual favour. <sup>121</sup> However, the shortcoming of sexual harassment under the Bribery Act as well as the new Anti-Corruption Act <sup>122</sup> is that it is only applicable to the public sector and not the private sector. <sup>123</sup> These acts primarily aim to combat corruption and unethical behavior within the public sector, where transparency and accountability are crucial due to the involvement of public funds and resources. Furthermore, these acts are focused on government officials, government agencies, and entities that engage with the government whereas private sector entities are typically subject to a different set of laws and regulations governing workplace conduct.

# 3.1.2 Entrenched barriers in the criminal justice system

Systemic issues in the justice system, as outlined below that act as barriers to justice include delays in taking up and processing cases, effectiveness and responsiveness of authorities, social stigma surrounding victims/survivors, procedural issues, the difference in the burden of proof in criminal law and civil law when it comes to the same offence, among other issues. 124

The criminal case of Thusith Thiling Malagoda vs. Paleketiyage Samanthi Manohari Palaketiya dealt with an incident that involved sexual harassment, charged under Section 345 of the Penal Code. 125 This case portrays the inherent issues of delays in case disposal, and problems of procedure in the criminal justice system. 126 The decision of the Supreme Court in this case was delivered 8 years after the case was filed. Moreover, the same case dealt with two different Magistrates who heard evidence for both the prosecution and the defence. Since the Magistrate had changed in the middle of the case, the second Magistrate would not have heard the initial evidence of the victim which is problematic and evident of the victim not being awarded a fair hearing. 127 The accused was acquitted by the second Magistrate on the basis that Manohari was not a credible witness since Manohari delayed her complaint to the police as she had already complained to her immediate superior at work. However, the High Court decided that since the Magistrate had changed mid trial the High Court judge should look into the weight of the evidence. The Court stated that the complainant's delay was reasonable, and it was explained reasonably in the evidence. Moreover, the Court stated that in those circumstances, the decision to overturn the acquittal was correct and affirmed the conviction and dismissed the appeal. This is just one case out of many that illustrates the procedural issues and delays that are inherent in the justice system.

Issues posed by the criminal justice system include the high burden of proof which is placed on the victim and by default the prosecution, to prove that the offence took place. 128 There is a higher burden of proof that is required to be fulfilled under the criminal law (beyond reasonable doubt) in comparison to civil law (balance of probability). Hence, under the criminal law, the victim may find it more difficult to provide evidence to a higher degree in comparison to the civil law. Moreover, KIIs revealed that travel and legal expenses pose significant barriers for many individuals, particularly when cases experience delays. 129 There are private and national legal aid bureaus that can aid persons with financial shortcomings to hire legal services but the funding is also limited. 130 KII findings also noted that parties to a workplace sexual harassment complaint were previously able to settle matters within the police station. However, according to the KII there was recently a new circular issued which directed the police to immediately lodge the complaint with the Court which is being strictly enforced.<sup>131</sup> This has therefore been an even further deterrent for victims/survivors to come forward according to the KII.

There are various issues that are prevalent in the Sri Lankan criminal justice system which act as barriers to justice. These issues include delays in Court proceedings, lack of judges and Court houses, and the requirement for reform within the law to expedite cases. <sup>132</sup> These systematic issues require reform to uphold the rule of law and to facilitate the efficient functioning of the justice system. Arbitration trainings, digitalization of Court houses and commitment to commercial mediation were raised as mechanisms to expedite cases and contribute to efficient justice sector work. <sup>133</sup> The idea behind

these reforms is to expedite cases and to free up room

for the cases that would physically require processing at Court.<sup>134</sup>

# 3.2 LACK OF A SPECIFIC DEFINITION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT UNDER THE CIVIL LAW

The Industrial Disputes Act No. 43 of 1950 (IDA) is a mechanism under civil law where complaints of work-related disputes that may involve sexual harassment can be taken up by the labour department. In comparison to the criminal law, this mechanism may prove to be speedier as the complaint is not processed through the police or Courts, which may cause delays due to the inherent criminal justice sector issues discussed above.

Under the civil law, the IDA enables the circumvention of the delays in the criminal law system as complaints do not go through the police and the criminal Courts which produce delays in case management. However, the public sector cannot submit complaints through the IDA, as the Act is only applicable to the private sector.<sup>137</sup>

Moreover, sexual harassment complaints under IDA are rarely submitted by female employees and there is also a possibility of the lack of frequency with which trade unions take up cases on behalf of victims. Only 2-3 sexual harassment complaints were submitted through the IDA to the Labour Department between 2018 and 2019.

Furthermore, the labour department redirects sexual harassment complaints to the police in circumstances

where they do not have the capability of handling certain matters. 140 The redirection of such complaints to the police is inherently problematic as the Sri Lanka Police have themselves been alleged to be perpetrators of sexual harassment against victims/survivors who seek assistance at police stations. 141 This is problematic as the institution of the state whose function is to protect victims/survivors, may also be the perpetrator of the offence.

However, KIIs further confirmed that the offence of sexual harassment at work is not specifically defined under the IDA, although it can be broadly interpreted to encompass the offence. 142 Furthermore, complaints of sexual harassment are usually filed in conjunction with issues of unlawful termination at the Labour Tribunal and rarely as a stand-alone since there is no specific provision. Additionally, KIIs have noted that in practice when the Labour Tribunal has found that when the unlawful termination complaint is unsubstantiated, employers have then filed a defamation complaint against the alleged victim. 143 The risk of retaliation by the employer against the employee can be counterproductive and may act as a deterrent for victims/survivors pursuing workplace sexual harassment complaints under the IDA.

# CHAPTER 4: Institution and Policy framework

his section analyses the institutions and policies within Sri Lanka's justice framework for addressing sexual harassment at the workplace and other relevant issues. These institutions include:

the Ministry of Labour and Foreign Employment, Department of Labour, Sri Lanka Police, the Attorney General's Department and the Courts.

#### 4.1 MINISTRY OF LABOUR AND FOREIGN EMPLOYMENT

The labour law framework of the country including the regulation of working conditions and the relationship between employers and employees, falls under the purview of the Ministry of Labour and Foreign Employment. The objectives of the ministry encapsulate 'protecting and empowering women and promoting gender equity' as well as ensuring globally accepted rights and conditions at work. 144 However, there is no specific objective of addressing sexual harassment at the workplace as a labour standard.

The Department of Labour (DoL) within the Ministry of Labour is responsible for the enforcement of labour laws through inspection services pertaining to the working environment and working conditions. 145 Labour inspectors are also involved in conciliation work. In addition to programmed visits and visits to address complaints, multidisciplinary visits are also facilitated. Such visits are carried out to cover every aspect of non-compliance, by a team from specialist divisions. 146

The Shop and Office Employees (Regulation of Employment & Remuneration) Act No. 19 of 1954, Wages Boards

Ordinance No. 27 of 1941, Factories Ordinance No. 45 of 1942, Industrial Disputes Act No. 43 of 1950, the Employment of Women, Young Persons, and Children Act No. 47 of 1956 and the Payment of Gratuity Act No.12 of 1983 are labour laws that govern and protect the rights of employees. These laws focus on regulating employment terms and conditions, safety of employees and account for methods of dispute settlement in the event of a disagreement as well as stipulating social security schemes for employees. 147 These laws have been found insufficient to oversee the offence of sexual harassment at the workplace as there is no specific statute that addresses sexual harassment at work.<sup>148</sup> However, a draft 'Employment Act' was published in 2019 by the Ministry, which addressed sexual harassment in the workplace. Nevertheless, the draft did not materialize into an Act. 149

There are various issues in the interpretation and implementation of the current labour framework which does not afford maximum protection to persons who are victims/survivors of sexual harassment, specifically in the workplace. The status quo on laws governing sexual harassment remains unchanged.

#### **4.2 ATTORNEY GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT**

The Attorney General represents and acts on behalf of the state in both civil and criminal matters. <sup>150</sup> Section 393(2) and (3) of the Code of Criminal Procedure Act confers the power to the Attorney General to advise any other state departments, public officers or police officers before any criminal proceedings are initiated. <sup>151</sup> According to police statistics unit sexual harassment was one of the commonly reported minor crimes against women, although the reported cases on sexual harassment have dropped from the year 2020 which recorded

31 cases on attempt to commit sexual harassment to 16 cases on attempt to commit sexual harassment being reported in the year 2022.<sup>152</sup>

CEDAW in its concluding observations on the eighth periodic report in Sri Lanka, recommended the establishment of a special unit at the Attorney General's department to address and accelerate handling cases of sexual violence. However, there has been no such unit established to address cases of sexual violence.

#### 4.3 POLICE

Section 109 of the Code of Criminal procedure stipulates the procedure for action to be taken against criminal offences. <sup>154</sup> Complaints of sexual harassment are addressed by the police at first instance before the Court process is initiated. Complaints may be made directly by the victim or through an attorney.

Sri Lankan society is largely patriarchal and there are instances where there is a stigma for victims/survivors of domestic violence, gender-based violence and sexual harassment. 155 Victim blaming and shaming in Sri Lanka for violence perpetrated against the victim, consequently places them in a position unable to seek help due to culturally instilled fear, shame or embarrassment. 156 Accordingly, societal prejudices may act as a deterrent for victims/survivors of sexual harassment coming forward. When a victim seeks the assistance of the police to file a complaint, the victim is often 'further victimized' due to the justice system not being fully equipped to handle cases of a sensitive nature on top of the cultural stigmatization surrounding victims/ survivors in Sri Lanka. The issue of institutional desensitization to sexual harassment in the cultural context may further disincentivise victims/survivors. 157 According to discussions held at the roundtable this stigma acts as a deterrent for victims/survivors in filing complaints of sexual harassment with the police. 158

In a landmark 2019 ruling, the Supreme Court issued 20 guidelines for law enforcement to protect public

rights and prevent abuse of power, in response to a minor's fundamental rights petition alleging unlawful arrest, deprivation of liberty, unjustified detention, and degrading treatment during police questioning. 159 These guidelines establish principles and standards for law enforcement officials to protect the rights, dignity, and equal treatment of all individuals, with a particular focus on women, children, and vulnerable groups, while ensuring adherence to the law. Key aspects of the guidelines include the endorsement of special measures for vulnerable groups (e.g.- pregnant women) in line with international human rights standards. The guidelines further highlight that law enforcement must diligently prevent, investigate, and arrest perpetrators of violence against women and children, regardless of whether it occurs at home, in the community, or within institutions, whether the offenders are public officials or private individuals. Furthermore, these guidelines require law enforcement officials to prevent victimization of women, treat detainees without discrimination or violence, and strictly prohibit torture and attacks on reputation.<sup>160</sup>

Despite the guidelines passed in 2019, on 24 July 2021, Civil Society Organisations Jana Bala Pawura (People's Power) in collaboration with Lawyers Forum for the People (LFP), filed a complaint at the Human Rights Commission of Sri Lanka (HRCSL). The complaint aimed to address cases where the complainant themselves were subject to sexual harassment by law enforcement within police stations. The complaint was lodged in relation to

two separate cases of sexual harassment at two police stations. The complaint also requested the intervention of the HRCSL to take legal action against the perpetrators and to take steps to prevent the recurrence of such incidents. Instances of sexual harassment by law

enforcement officers can act as a deterrent for victims/ survivors to register complaints with the police, when the institution is perceived by victims/survivors as a possible threat to their safety.<sup>161</sup>

#### **4.4 COURT SYSTEM**

The judicial system of Sri Lanka has a Court system where the High Court and the Magistrates Court have the jurisdiction over criminal matters and the District Court has jurisdiction over civil matters. Offences of sexual harassment would be filed at the Magistrates

Court. Complaints of sexual harassment that are registered at the Ministry of Labour and Foreign Employment are referred to a Court of Arbitration (Labour Tribunal) by the Minister in charge, once the Labour Department sends a report to the Minister. 162

#### 4.5 NATIONAL ACTION PLAN

The policy framework of Sri Lanka that protects women in employment includes several guidance and action plans<sup>163</sup> and sectoral policies.<sup>164</sup> Sri Lanka has adopted a national action plan to implement the UN security council's resolutions on women, peace and security.<sup>165</sup> This action plan devised by the Ministry of Women, Child

Affairs and Social Empowerment amongst other objectives, aims to, amend the current legislation to be gender sensitive, promote women's participation, and sensitize officials of the state in handling gendered issues relating to women. <sup>166</sup>

# CHAPTER 5: International implementation of legislation

y the year 2022, over 130 countries including Sri Lanka had implemented legislation against sexual harassment at the workplace while 43 countries had not. 167 This section will look at legal measures adopted by certain countries to ensure the rights of all persons to a safe working environment without

encountering sexual harassment. The countries listed below were selected based on selections made by the ILO guide on Convention No. 190 and Recommendation No. 206. <sup>168</sup> The guide provides details of countries that have taken action in specific areas for protection against sexual harassment in the workplace.

# 5.1 COUNTRIES WITH LEGAL MEASURES TO PREVENT SEXUAL HARASSMENT AT THE WORKPLACE

Some of these implementation practices can potentially be contextualized to amend Sri Lanka's legal framework. **Table 3** below provides a compilation that examines select countries, including Canada, Philippines, USA, Peru, Japan, Mexico, Iraq, and Gabon, to shed light on the diverse approaches taken to define

sexual harassment, establish legal remedies, outline reporting mechanisms, and delineate responsibilities of employers and employees. By exploring these different approaches, this section highlights global efforts to combat sexual harassment and promote safer and more inclusive workplaces.

Table 3 - Countries with legal measures to prevent sexual harassment at the workplace. 169

						Categories					
Country	Definition of Sexual Harassment	Criminal laws	Civil laws	Reporting mecha- nisms	Equality	Extension of Workplace/ employees	Employers responsibility	Employees responsibility	Remedies	Monitoring mechanism	Awareness
Canada	'any action, conduct/comment, including of a sexual nature that can reasonably be expected to cause offence/ humiliation/ other physical/ psychological injury/illness to an employee, including any prescribed action, conduct or comment '170		Mandates workplace policy to include a statement that 'violence and harassment in the workplace is prohibited' 171	Accessibility complaints for federal public servants and parliamentary employees, involving physical or psychological harm, property damage, or financial loss <sup>172</sup> , are addressed by the Federal Public Sector Labour Relations and Employment Board through the grievance process.	Canadian Government amended the Human Rights Act to outlaw employment discrimina- tion, including discrimina- tion-based harassment, based on gen- der identity and expression.	Labour standards protections in relation to harassment and violence are applicable to unpaid student internships in the federally regulated private sector. 173	Committees are required to formulate policies on workplace harassment. Employers working in a federally regulated industry or workplace, should develop a workplace harassment and violence prevention policy depending on the size of the employer. These policies may be formulated with the policy committee, the workplace committee or health and safety repre-		Violence and harassment at work are fully integrated in the workers' compensation schemes of a number of provinces and territories (such as, Quebec, Saskatchewan and Ontario) and give rise to a range of benefits provided in case of injuries that arise to the employee during the course of work.		

						Categories					
Country	Definition of Sexual Harassment	Criminal laws	Civil laws	Reporting mecha- nisms	Equality	Extension of Workplace/ employees	Employers responsibility	Employees responsibility	Remedies	Monitoring mechanism	Awareness
Philippines		Section 19 of the Safe Spaces Act 2018, foresees fines in case of noncompliance with provisions related to employers' preventive duties or in case of not taking action on reported acts of gender-based sexual harassment committed in the workplace. <sup>175</sup>		Employers must establish an independent internal mechanism to handle sexual harassment complaints. This body should include representatives from management, supervisory and rank-and-file employees, & the union if applicable. This internal complaint mechanism must be led by at least half of its female members. 176		Prohibits sexual harassment at work among peers, against a superior and against subcontracted employees.	Employers or other persons of authority, influence or moral ascendancy in a workplace shall have the duty to prevent, deter or punish the performance of acts of gender-based sexual harassment in the workplace.	Employees & co-workers have a duty to: Refrain from and discourage sexual harassment, -Offer support to colleagues who are victims, -Report witnessed incidents of gender-based sexual harassment in the workplace.		Mandates organisations to oversee its provisions. Department of Labour & Employment: monitors private sector, Civil Service Commission: oversees public sector, & conducts yearly compliance inspections; Department of Education.	

						Categories						
Country	Definition of Sexual Harassment	Criminal laws	Civil laws	Reporting mecha- nisms	Equality	Extension of Workplace/ employees	Employers responsibility	Employees responsibility	Remedies	Monitoring mechanism	Awareness	
USA				In New York the standard for proving a harassment claim has been significantly eased. A worker no longer has to prove that the harassment was 'severe or pervasive' or that a comparator was treated better or that they filed a complaint internally.	Employment discrimination is prohibited by law based on domestic violence. The Employers must provide reasonable accommodation (accessing domestic violence shelter services, psychological counseling, safety planning, legal services, support for prosecuting the offense or Court appearances). Employees are protected by law from discrimination (on sexual orientation/gender identity). The Employees are protected by law from discrimination (on sexual orientation/gender identity).	New York's State sexual harassment protection now covers workers, including independent contractors, consultants, employees of contractors, non-employee categories like gig workers, temps, and interns, paid or unpaid.	Employers are legally responsible for workplace harassment (engaging, encouraging, permitting). They must take steps to prevent and reduce harassment in their workplaces by implementing internal policies. Employ- ers must also investigate allegations and apply sanctions when neces- sary.	An increasing number of US states and cities have passed statutes requiring sexual harassment training, and other federal and state laws, regulations and Court decisions have made it clear that employers should provide anti-harassment training to all employees in all states.	In New York a worker prevailing on a harassment claim shall, by law, recover reasonable attorney fees from an employer and may recover punitive dam- ages as well as economic and compensatory (emotional inju- ry) damages.  Puerto Rico provides for 15 days leave in case of sexual harassment at work. <sup>178</sup>			

						Categories					
Country	Definition of Sexual Harassment	Criminal laws	Civil laws	Reporting mecha- nisms	Equality	Extension of Workplace/ employees	Employers responsibility	Employees responsibility	Remedies	Monitoring mechanism	Awareness
Peru				Law requires employers to establish a Sexual Harassment Com- mittee/ Delegate, depending on the workforce size. Workplaces with 20+ employees: have an Interven- tion Committee. Smaller workplac- es: an anti-sex- ual harassment delegate will fulfill this role. Cases involving outsourc- ing/ intermedia- tion companies: complaints should go to the main company/user, who must conduct the investiga- tion through its Intervention Committee. The investigation can be initiated by any party involved, at the victim's re- quest (third party/ independently).		When the victim is an employee, the following rights should be guaranteed 180:  a. Protection from dismissal due to such violence. b. Workplace change without harm to employment terms. c. Five days of absence. d. Employment suspension. e. Right to return to the same/similar position.	Peru intro- duced a new law requiring employers to adopt anti- harassment policies and investigation procedures, provide an- ti-harassment training, carry out annual sex- ual harassment risk assess- ments and set up a Sexual Harassment Committee or Delegate, depending on the size of the employer.				The Ministry of Labour launched the 'Work without Harassment' program to assist victims of workplace sexual harassment. It offers timely intervention, legal and psychological support, aiding victims throughout investigations and judicial proceedings concerning their labor rights. 181

						Categories					
Country	Definition of Sexual Harassment	Criminal laws	Civil laws	Reporting mecha- nisms	Equality	Extension of Workplace/ employees	Employers responsibility	Employees responsibility	Remedies	Monitoring mechanism	Awareness
Japan	The term "power harassment" is used to define acts and speech: (a) taking advantage of the harasser's position of authority; (b) harming the workplace environment; and (c) beyond what is necessary or appropriate for work operation. 182				Companies must create measures to prevent hostile working environments related to preg- nancy, child- birth, childcare, or caregiver leave. 183 Gov- ernment guidelines on workplace harassment law prohibit 'outing' an LGBTQI+ person or insulting some- one's sexuality or gender iden- tity as power harassment.	Prohibits harassment among colleagues, including subordinates, superiors, and different employment statuses. 184 Power harassment can happen between colleagues as well as workers with different employee statuses, such as permanent employees and contract workers.	Companies with more than 50 employees must put in place measures to prevent sexual harass- ment. <sup>185</sup> The new Anti-Pow- er Harassment law prevents employers from firing or mistreating employees who report harass- ment.				

						Categories					
Country	Definition of Sexual Harassment	Criminal laws	Civil laws	Reporting mecha- nisms	Equality	Extension of Workplace/ employees	Employers responsibility	Employees responsibility	Remedies	Monitoring mechanism	Awareness
Mexico	'acts of harass-			Mexico's Secretar-		The Federal		The employer			
	ment, bullying			iat of Labor and		Labour Law		may terminate			
<b>③</b>	or ill-treat-			Social Welfare in-		and the Social		the employ-			
	ment against			troduced a model		Security Law		ment relation-			
	workers, which			protocol to combat		were amend-		ship where a			
	may harm their			workplace vio-		ed to extend		worker has			
	integrity or			lence. It outlines		protection		committed an			
	health'. <sup>186</sup>			procedures for		to domestic		act of violence,			
				assisting victims,		workers,		has insulted			
				promotes gender		including pro-		or mistreated			
				equality, and aims		tection against		co-workers,			
				to eliminate work-		discrimination		the employer or			
				place violence.		in employment		his/her family,			
				This includes pro-		conditions.		the manage-			
				tective measures,				ment personnel			
				the creation of an				or clients and			
				'Attention and Fol-				suppliers. 187			
				low-Up Committee′							
				with company							
				and employee							
				representatives to							
				oversee the proto-							
				col's application.							

	Categories										
Country	Definition of Sexual Harassment	Criminal laws	Civil laws	Reporting mecha- nisms	Equality	Extension of Workplace/ employees	Employers responsibility	Employees responsibility	Remedies	Monitoring mechanism	Awareness
الله اکبر	sexual harassment is forbidden in all aspects of employment (job searches, training, recruitment, and working conditions). It also prohibits any conduct that creates a hostile/ offensive work environment for those it targets. Sexual harassment under this law encompasses unwelcome/ unreasonable physical or verbal conduct based on sex, impacting the dignity of individuals and leading to job-related consequences when rejected. 188	The 2015 Labour Law states, 'who- ever violates the provisions of the articles contained in this chapter relating to discrimination, forced labour and sexual ha- rassment, shall be punished by imprisonment for a period not exceeding six months and a fine not exceeding one million dinars or by any of the two sanctions,' (art. 11-2).	According to article 42 of the 2015 Labour Law: The worker has the following rights:  a. To have equal opportunities and be recruited and work under equal conditions, without any discrimination.  b. To have a working environment, free from any harassment.						In cases of workplace discrimination or harassment, the employer may be liable for damages, including non-pecuniary harm like mental distress. The compensation should effectively deter further violations by being proportionate to the candidate or employee's suffering. 189		

	Categories										
Country	Definition of Sexual Harassment	Criminal laws	Civil laws	Reporting mecha- nisms	Equality	Extension of Workplace/ employees	Employers responsibility	Employees responsibility	Remedies	Monitoring mechanism	Awareness
Gabon	Repeated inappropriate behavior or suggestive speech, linked to a person using their authority or influence to seek sexual favors, is considered sexual harassment.	Offenders may face imprisonment up to six months and a fine of up to 2,000,000 francs. 190 any perpetrator of moral or sexual harassment in the location of work or during work, incurs major disciplinary sanctions pursuant to applicable laws. 191		'A trade union/ recognized associ- ation can act on an employee's behalf with their written consent before the relevant authori- ties/Courts. 192 Vic- tim carries the ini- tial burden of proof for moral/ sexual harassment. The defendant must demonstrate that their actions don't constitute harass- ment.' 193  Staff represen- tatives, union delegates, & public sector union organisations have whistleblower rights. 194		Protection is extended against moral and sexual harassment to all employees, civil servants and trainees. <sup>195</sup>	Employees, civil servants, trainees, or interns cannot face punitive actions or discrimination, including pay, training, reviews, or promotions, for experiencing or refusing repeated acts of moral or sexual harassment or for providing testimony against such acts. 196				

# 5.2 COUNTRY SPECIFIC EXAMPLES OUTLINED BY THE ILO FOR MEASURES AGAINST SEXUAL HARASSMENT AT THE WORKPLACE, IN COMPLIANCE WITH ILO CONVENTION 190.<sup>197</sup>

This section delves into the classification of nations into distinct legal systems, particularly focusing on the Civil Law System and Mixed Legal Systems in terms of addressing sexual harassment in the workplace in compliance with ILO Convention 190. This section sheds

light on the distinctive characteristics and approaches employed on workplace sexual harassment within these legal systems, fostering a deeper understanding of their practices.

#### **Civil Law System**

#### Romania<sup>198</sup>



#### Civil laws

Fine is imposed in case an employer does not comply with the measures ordered by the Court in a judgment related to violence and harassment.

Article 26 of Law No. 202 of 2002 on equal opportunities and equal treatment for women and men, as amended in 2015 and 2018.

#### Slovenia 199



#### **Definition of sexual harassment**

Any undesired behaviour associated with any personal circumstance; Article 7, Employment Relations Act 2013.

#### North Macedonia<sup>200</sup>



#### Civil laws

A person filing the complaint under the Act in terms of breach of equality shall be exempted from payment of administrative fee and another charge;

Article 22(6), The 2006 Law on Equal Opportunities for Women and Men, as amended in 2015.

#### Portugal<sup>201</sup>



#### Civil laws

Strengthens protections against victimisation and dismissal to victims and witnesses of harassment practices.

Prevents the application of disciplinary sanctions against complainants or victims and witnesses, unless they acted with willful misconduct, taking into account the circumstances mentioned in the proceedings triggered by sexual harassment or mobbing, until its final judgement with res judicata, regardless of the right to adversarial proceedings; Article 29(6) The Labour Code, as amended in 2017.

#### **Civil Law System**

#### Italy<sup>202</sup>



#### Employer's responsibility

Employers are required to ensure working conditions that guarantee the physical and emotional integrity and dignity of workers, and also to agree with trade unions on informative and training initiatives aimed at preventing sexual harassment at work;

Article 2087 of the Civil Code, Paragraph 3-bis of the Code of Equal Opportunities as amended in 2018.

#### Denmark<sup>203</sup>



#### Extension of Workplace/employees

'Applies to any work performed for an employer' (sect. 2.1), including 'work in the employer's private household' (sect. 2.2.). Protection extends to all offensive behaviour, including bullying and sexual harassment (sects 22–24) and work-related violence during working hours;

The 2020 Executive Order on psychosocial working environment

#### Brazil<sup>204</sup>



#### Equality

Employers (companies, public agencies, individuals, and professional unions, from all economic sectors and non-profit entities) are required to adopt measures to prevent LGBTQI+ employees, outsourced employees, interns or clients from being directly or indirectly exposed to violence and harassment rooted in LGBTQI- phobia or transphobia or to sexual harassment and cyberbullying based on sexual orientation or gender identity.

Public Labour Prosecution Office's Committee for the Promotion of Equal Opportunities and the Elimination of Discrimination at Work issued Technical Note 02/2020

#### Uruguay<sup>205</sup>



#### Monitoring Mechanism

'The State will be responsible for designing and implementing awareness, education and supervision policies for the prevention of sexual harassment in the workplace and teaching environment, both in the public as in private fields', and foresee the General Labour and Social Security Inspectorate as the body competent to monitor compliance in the public and private sphere, (Article 5). In addition, provides that 'the Inspectorate will have broad powers to investigate the reported facts ... to interrogate the complainant, the accused and witnesses and to collect all relevant evidence', and to issue notifications and sanctions (Article 8). further provides that 'when trade unions receive complaints regarding sexual harassment, they are entitled to request to the Inspectorate General of Labour and Social Security the initiation

of inspection in the workplace'. (Article 10); Sexual Harassment Law 2009, as amended in 2017.

#### **Civil Law System**

#### Spain<sup>206</sup>



#### Monitoring mechanism

In 2009, technical criteria for the intervention of labour inspectors in cases of violence and harassment at work were adopted. Both internal and third-party violence - of both a physical and psychological nature (including sexual, moral and discriminatory harassment) - are covered. The document contains the procedure to be followed by labour inspectors in those cases, as well as the injunctions measures, including the power to order the suspension of work in case of imminent threat to workers' health, and sanctions provided by the OSH, labour and criminal regulations. As an annex, it includes an explanatory guide for the detection and appraisal of violence and harassment-relevant behaviours. In 2021, technical criteria for the intervention of labour inspectors in relation to psychosocial risks, which explicitly include harassment and other inappropriate conduct, were also approved.

#### **Mixed Legal System**

#### Niger<sup>207</sup>



#### Civil laws

'No worker may be punished, or subjected to discrimination for having been a witness to acts of sexual harassment or for reporting them.'

Article 122 of Decree No. 2017-682/PRN/MET/PS in regulation of the Labour Code

#### **Mixed Legal System**

#### Puerto Rico<sup>208</sup>



#### Employer's responsibility

An employer who engages in, encourages or permits workplace harassment shall be civilly liable to the persons affected. It shall be the responsibility of every employer to take the necessary measures to eliminate or minimize the occurrence of workplace harassment.

Article 5 of Law No. 90 of 2020

#### Diibouti<sup>209</sup>



#### Equality

In case of any dispute related to harassment, including sexual harassment, the burden of proof is shifted. In particular, when the employee presents evidence suggesting the existence of harassment, 'it is up to the defendant to prove that these acts do not constitute such harassment and that their decision is justified by objective elements unrelated to any harassment. The judge shall form his or her opinion after ordering, if necessary, all the investigative measures he or she deems useful.'

Amendment in 2018, article 4-quater of the Labour Code

### **Common Law**

### Australia<sup>210</sup>



Extension of Workplace/employees,

A workplace means a place where work is carried out for a business or undertaking, which includes any place where a worker goes or is likely to be while at work. This includes phone, email or online such as through social media platforms; OSH Laws, Australia 2021a; 2021b)

### New Zealand<sup>211</sup>



### Extension of Workplace/employees

Grants employees affected by domestic violence the right to:

a) take at least ten days of paid domestic violence leave;

b) ask for short-term flexible working arrangements. This can be for up to two months; and

c) not be treated adversely in the workplace because they might have experienced domestic violence.

The 2018 Domestic Violence - Victims' Protection Act

# **Continental European Legal System**

# Latvia<sup>212</sup>



## Equality

Unemployed persons, persons seeking employment, and persons subject to the risk of unemployment are protected from discrimination due to their sex, race or ethnic origin, and from conduct which is unwanted in the opinion of this person (including a conduct of a sexual nature), with the purpose or effect of violating the dignity of a person, and of creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment. According to the last amendments on 16 April 2020 the owners of micro entities and self-employed persons without income are covered by the Law until the end of 2020;

Law on Support for Unemployed Persons and Persons Seeking Employment as adopted on 9 May 2002 (last amended on 16 April 2020)

# **Continental Inquisitorial System**

# Republic of Korea<sup>213</sup>



## **Definition of sexual harassment**

'An act of an employer (or business owner) or employee (or worker) that causes physical or mental suffering or worsens the working environment of another employee/worker by taking advantage of his/her status or relationship within the workplace beyond the appropriate scope of work.'

Labour Standards Act 2018 Article 76(2)

# CHAPTER 6: **Recommendations**

n July 2023 the government has proposed changes to the labour law framework on the basis of outdated laws that have proven to be "complex, discriminatory and inflexible." Some of the proposed reforms include addressing night-time restrictions as well as making provisions to address sexual harassment at work. The above gap analysis identified three specific barriers for victims to access to justice: (1) legal barriers, the lack of a comprehensive legal definition on sexual harassment; (2) entrenched barriers in the criminal justice system; and (3) cultural barriers and a lack of awareness around the issue of sexual harassment. The following recommendations are aimed at addressing each of these three barriers. See Table 4 for a summary of the three barriers

identified and the specific broad based recommendations to overcome these barriers.

This section will also examine recommendations for reform from an interim perspective and a long-term perspective targeted at key stakeholders in the public sector and the private sector. The section advocates for legislative changes regarding employer liability for sexual harassment, suggesting that employers be responsible to implement necessary corrective measures to prevent and address workplace sexual harassment. The recommendations also consider non-legislative actions aimed at specific stakeholders within the system.

Table 4: Summary on Key Barriers and Solutions to Sexual Harassment at the Workplace

	Legal barriers - Lack of Compre- hensive Legal Definition on Sexual Harassment	Entrenched barriers in the criminal justice system	Cultural Barriers & Lack of Awareness
Challenges identified	<ul> <li>a. Sexual harassment not specifically defined in the Industrial Disputes Act No. 43 of 1950</li> <li>b. S.345 of the Penal code provision provides narrow definition on sexual harassment</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>a. Delays in administering justice</li> <li>b. High costs from lengthy legal proceedings</li> <li>c. High burden of proof</li> <li>d. Insufficient judicial resources</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>a. Inherent patriarchal society imposing traditional gender roles</li> <li>b. Stigma and victim blaming</li> </ul>
Solutions	Include comprehensive definition on sexual harassment in Civil Law (Refer subsection 6.1.1)	Mandate employers to have policies on workplace sexual harassment. (Refer subsection 6.1.1)	Promote sexual harassment awareness and prevention in school curricula. (Refer subsection 6.6)
	Include comprehensive definition on sexual harassment in the penal code (Refer subsection 6.1.2)	Mandatory Internal complaint mechanisms and inquiry com- mittees. (Refer subsections 6.1.1 and 6.7)	Training law enforcement for sensitization in handling cases of sexual harassment. (Refer subsection 6.5)
		Facilitating access to Alternative Dispute Resolution through labour tribunals. (Refer subsection 6.1.1)	Training employees in the work- place to create awareness and share information on preventing sexual harassment. (Refer sub- section 6.5)
			Local platforms to encourage victims/survivors of sexual harassment to report instances of sexual harassment. (Refer subsection 6.10)
			Conduct campaigns on combatting sexual harassment to help in destigmatization and education on internal policies on workplace sexual harassment. (Refer subsections 6.8 and 6.9)

# 6.1. LEGISLATIVE REFORM

The legal gap analysis has identified the following barriers for accountability and redress in the criminal justice system: (1) legal barriers including the lack of a comprehensive legal definition on sexual harassment; and (2) entrenched barriers in the criminal justice system. Therefore recommendations for legislative reform are mainly aimed at the imposition of civil remedies aimed at circumventing the issues in the criminal justice system

discussed in section 6.1.1. Furthermore, there is also a need to simultaneously amend section 345 of the Penal code to incorporate a more comprehensive definition of sexual harassment as outlined in section 6.1.2 below.

The civil legislative reform proposes employer's liability as a complimentary mechanism to the current criminal justice system which will allow for victims/survivors to

have access to justice through civil remedies, but also provide accountability for employers who do not address sexual harassment at the workplace.

Therefore, a new bill is required, specifically focusing on sexual harassment at the workplace in line with the ILO Convention No.190 extending to the public and private sector. However, the law must be contextualized to the Sri Lankan context and the realities of the civil legal systems. KII findings from the ILO suggest a phased approach for sustainable implementation.<sup>216</sup>

### 6.1.1 Civil Law Reform

The following recommendations highlight key areas that can be included in the employment/civil bill, based on best practices outlined in this report:

- i. Provide a comprehensive definition of sexual harassment as adopted by countries such as Canada and Japan. The definition can include a range of unacceptable behaviours and practices, or threats, whether a single occurrence or repeated, that aim at, result in, or are likely to result in physical, psychological, sexual or economic harm, and includes gender-based violence and harassment.<sup>217</sup>
- ii. Establish an inclusive approach to who can be a victim of sexual harassment (persons from the LGBTQI community, persons with disabilities, trans persons etc). Provide for the enforcement of laws that mandate companies to draft internal policies that are gender neutral and inclusive with special attention given to persons with disabilities and LGBTQI persons. For instance, a listed private company in Sri Lanka, has made efforts to formalize a LGBTQI inclusive workplace culture. Terms such as 'gender identity' and 'sexual orientation' have been included in all the Company's human resources policies since 2015. The conglomerate, has also partnered with Equal Ground to conduct awareness sessions on LGBTQI inclusion.<sup>218</sup>

- Require all employers to formulate and publish workplace sexual harassment policies that should be accessible to all employees. Sexual harassment policies are already implemented on a voluntary basis in some institutions. For instance, the University of Colombo has their own 'Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy' which applies to their staff and is extensively outlined and is accessible on their website. 219 The policy articulates what constitutes a safe and respectful environment, promotes gender equality, and provides clear procedures for reporting and addressing sexual harassment within the University of Colombo. 220 Furthermore the California Code of Regulations require employers to construct a written policy on sexual harassment and disseminate to all employees who must acknowledge the policy by signing or emailing their acknowledgment.<sup>221</sup>
- iv. Require the employer to establish a complaint procedure and an inquiry committee, tailor-made to reflect the size of the company. For instance, in Peru there is a requirement for employers to set up a Sexual Harassment Committee or Delegate, depending on the size of the employer. In workplaces with fewer than 20 employees, an anti-sexual harassment delegate will assume the role of the Intervention Committee. In Japan under the Law to Prevent Harassment in the Workplace, companies with more than 50 employees must put in place measures to prevent sexual harassment such as taking steps to punish perpetrators. 2222
- v. Provide the composition of the inquiry committee to have equal representation of women, minority groups and independent members to ensure equality and to eliminate bias. For instance, under the Prevention of Sexual Harassment (POSH) Act in India, if an organisation has 10 or more employees, there must be an internal committee ("IC") to redress complaints on sexual harassment at workplace. The committee must consist of a Presiding Officer who is a woman employed at a senior level at workplace, there must be two members from amongst employees (who are committed to the cause of women or

who have had experience in social work or have legal knowledge) and one Member from an NGO or associations committed to the same cause. The law also states that at least half of the total members of the IC should be women. <sup>223</sup> Nonetheless, this approach should be inclusive and encompass individuals from various backgrounds, including the LGBTQI community, people with disabilities, and all genders, rather than being limited solely to women.

- vi. Facilitate access to labour tribunals to specifically address sexual harassment complaints, enabling an alternative recourse to dispute resolution. This system would typically encompass specialized mediation and conciliation services designed specifically for handling sexual harassment complaints. Under the oversight of labor tribunals, victims/survivors can be provided an alternative to the conventional civil legal process, which can be complex and time-consuming.
- vii. Extend the applicability of the bill to formal and informal places of work. For instance in Australia, under Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) laws, a workplace means a place where work is carried out for a business or undertaking, which includes any place where a worker goes or is likely to be while at work including phone calls, emails or work done online such as through social media platforms. <sup>224</sup> In Denmark, the 2020 Executive Order on psychosocial working environment specifically 'applies to any work performed for an employer' including 'work in the employer's private household'. <sup>225</sup> In Mexico the Federal Labour Law was amended to extend protection to domestic workers. <sup>226</sup>
- viii. Outline punishments (warnings, dismissal) for different degrees of the offences of sexual harassment at work that are proportional to the harm caused to the victim. For instance, Belgium has legislation such as the Employee Welfare Act of 1996 which stipulates sanctions (fines) for non-compliance ranging from 400 Euros to 4000 Euros.<sup>227</sup>

- Provide a provision for compensation for victims/ survivors. For instance, in Iraq under Article 8 of the 2013 Employment Relationship Act employers could be held responsible for workplace discrimination or harassment and may be required to provide compensation, which includes addressing non-pecuniary harm such as mental distress. The compensation should serve as a deterrent by being commensurate with the pain and suffering experienced by the candidate or employee.<sup>228</sup> Furthermore In several provinces and territories in Canada, including Quebec, Saskatchewan, and Ontario, the workers' compensation schemes have effectively incorporated provisions for addressing workplace violence and harassment. These provisions result in a variety of benefits being extended to employees in cases where injuries occur during the course of their work,<sup>229</sup>
- x. Provide for employers to proactively engage with trade unions to conduct training sessions. For instance, in Gabon, trade unions can also represent victims/survivors of sexual harassment at Courts with the written consent of the employee. <sup>230</sup> Further the German Equal General Treatment Act in Germany, legally requires employers to sign agreements with trade unions for trainings of employees. <sup>231</sup>
- xi. Provide that sexual harassment policies are multi-lingual, taking account the diverse culture of Sri Lanka and adherence to the Official Language Policy. While the English language might be a common denominator for many workplaces, it is essential that sexual harassment policies at the workplace are also available in the Sinhala and Tamil language to ensure language accessibility. The objective is to create an environment that ensures accessibility and equality for all employees.
- xii. Provide that content, form and implementation of policy and procedure is accessible to all employees. Cultural and language differences may intersect with psychosocial risks and lead to harassment at work. The ILO Convention No. 190 and Recommendation No. 206, advocate for workplace risk assessment and

management to consider all factors that may increase the possibility of harassment. <sup>232</sup> For instance, the Irish Harassment Order, 2012, includes accessibility regulations for people with disabilities and for people who do not speak English. It specifically requires that the content, form and implementation of the policy and procedures should be accessible to all. For example, translation of policies and procedures into Braille or large print formats and languages other than English, as appropriate. <sup>233</sup>

- **xiii.** Provide for timely internal audits conducted by employer to renew and update the policies on sexual harassment based on their efficacy.
- xiv. Provide for extra support measures to be adopted by the employer for employees who are harassed. For instance ILO Convention 190 also requires measures such as: (a) support to help victims/survivors re-enter the labour market; (b) counselling and information services, in an accessible manner as appropriate; (c) 24-hour hotlines; (d) emergency services; (e) medical care, treatment and psychological support; and (f) crisis centers, including shelters.<sup>234</sup>

### 6.1.2. Criminal Law Reform

- The international definition of 'violence and harassment' at the workplace is more comprehensive and inclusive than Sri Lanka's current definition of sexual harassment in the penal code. There is a potential need for reform to align the Penal Code with international standards and provide broader protection against various forms of violence, and harassment that reach the requisite level of harm which should be criminalized.
- The definition should encompass various manifestations of sexual harassment, including criminalizing voyeurism. It can even branch out to offenses of sexual harassment that involves the use of digital or electronic media or using images, audio, or videos that have sexual content. For instance, the Mexico City Criminal Code amendments include stricter penalties for digital violence against specific vulnerable groups, such as senior citizens, disabled individuals, homeless people, or indigenous populations. Furthermore, increased penalties are applied when digital or electronic media, or any other communication device, are utilized in the commission of the offense, or when the offense involves the use of images, audio, or videos containing intimate sexual content.235

# 6.2 ATTORNEY GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT WITH THE AID OF THE LAW COM-MISSION/LEGAL AID

The establishment of a specialized unit specifically designed to expedite the handling of sexual harassment complaints. This unit should be dedicated to ensuring swift case processing, resulting in successful prosecutions, and concurrently, it will be focused on reducing the existing backlog of cases related to sexual harassment. This can be done in line with the child protection unit that was initiated from August 2004 to investigate and prosecute child abuse cases with a view to enhancing child protection. <sup>236</sup> The UNICEF country office annual report for Sri Lanka in the year 2019 indicates that the Attorney

General's Department handled 7,140 cases related to child sexual abuse and rape, with the aim of resolving the entire backlog by the first quarter of 2020.<sup>237</sup> According to UNICEF many of these cases were pending for an average of 6-8 years.<sup>238</sup> Additionally, the Government of Sri Lanka (GoSL) has introduced the nation's first-ever database to document the prevention, response, and management of cases involving violence against children.<sup>239</sup> The approach in handling cases of child abuse in reducing case backlogs can be used as a model to handle sexual harassment cases.

# 6.3 MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS

 Ratify the ILO Convention on Sexual Harassment at Work (No.190)

# 6.4 MINISTRY OF LABOUR/DEPARTMENT OF LABOUR

In order for audits on sexual harassment in the workplace to be transparent and impartial, a third party should conduct the audits. The Ministry of Labour, more specifically the Department of Labour (DoL) can bring company audits under their purview as labour inspections are already a service within their mandate. Once an audit is complete, the DoL can publish their findings on the Ministry website. These findings can include incidents that had taken place as well as how the administration dealt with the alleged offender. This can be a transparent method for assessing the ranking of a company in how they adhere to preventing sexual harassment at work. Roundtable feedback identified that the Labor Department had workplace harassment audits 18

years ago, for two consecutive years which were funded through international donor support. 240 Moreover, the importance of extending labour inspections to the informal sector was underscored by KIIs who noted that inspections usually occur in the formal sector which accounts for only 25 to 30 percent of the workforce. 241 The KII further noted that even in the formal sector itself, the Ministry has only about five or six hundred labor inspectors which does not cover the entire sector. 242 To extend the labour ministries purview over the informal sector, this may require further legal amendments – especially when considering that domestic worker's are not a legally recognized employment category under the law.

# 6.5 MINISTRY OF WOMEN, CHILD AFFAIRS AND SOCIAL EMPOWERMENT

Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security developed by the Ministry advocates for the digitalization of data on sexual violence which records the complaint, the duration taken to address complaints and next steps. <sup>243</sup>

The Ministry should create an inclusive platform for anonymous reporting of workplace-related sexual harassment incidents. The intention of creating a safe and anonymous space for victims/survivors to share their experiences would be to create a supportive community which furthers the common interests of victims/survivors. The platform can also disseminate information by including local rules

and regulations on reporting, hotlines of community support providers and contact details of which authority to contact. A model to follow can be the application devised by UN Habitat.<sup>244</sup> However, the application is limited to their internal employment structure. The Ministry of Women through its 1938 hotline established a support system for addressing complaints concerning any type of discrimination against women, violations of women's rights, harassment, and domestic violence.<sup>245</sup> However it was reported that only 79 complaints on sexual harassment were received from January 2020 to May 2021 through the 1938 hotline.<sup>246</sup> It was also stated that the reported complaints only addressed the tip of the iceberg as many cases go unreported.<sup>247</sup>

For instance, India has designed an application to address sexual harassment at the workplace by raising awareness and disseminating information.<sup>248</sup> The Sexual Harassment Electronic Box (SHe-Box) is a mechanism put forth by the Government of India to facilitate the registration of complaints related to sexual harassment (in accordance with the Protection of Women from Sexual Harassment at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013). Any woman can use the SHe-Box. The 'resources' section of the SHe-Box contains detailed information on sexual harassment of women in the workplace.<sup>249</sup> However, there are multiple critiques of the application which include: a) the application is limited to the formal sector and doesn't include the informal sector, b) limited to women only, c) anonymous complaints cannot be made as it requires details such as name, email address, mobile number, individual identification number (Aadhaar) and d) Supreme Court employees are not covered.<sup>250</sup>

Cultural issues of prejudice and desensitization of sexual harassment act as barriers for victims/survivors to submit complaints. Training opportunities can be provided for police and other institutions specified under chapter 3, that come into contact with victims/survivors of gender-based violence and harassment, to sensitize and educate on the approach to be taken. Article 10(e) of the ILO Convention 190 requires specialized police units or specially trained officers to support victims/survivors of

gender-based violence and harassment.<sup>251</sup> The National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security developed by the Ministry suggests including a module on gender in the induction of all public officials, to educate them to be gender sensitive.<sup>252</sup>

The Public Service Commission aims to enhance the efficiency of public services while fostering professional ethics among public officers. The Public Service Commission can therefore be the body to implement the trainings that are crafted by the Ministry of Women and Child Affairs. In the Philippines, the 2018 Safe Spaces Act mandates different entities and bodies to monitor its provisions (Department of Labour and Employment for the private sector and the Civil Service Commission for the public sector). 253 These institutions are required to conduct yearly spontaneous inspections to ensure compliance of obligations under the Act. 254 In addition, the Act also places responsibility on the Department of Education, the Commission on Higher Education, and the Technical Education and Skills Development Authority for conducting regular spontaneous inspections to ensure compliance of school heads with their obligations under this Act. Similarly the Public Service Commission, may also take up a supervisory role over public bodies in terms of inspections.

# 6.6 MINISTRY OF EDUCATION

- To tackle the issue of sexual harassment at its roots and promote early education, the inclusion of sexual harassment awareness and prevention in school curricula can be considered; It can be incorporated into an academic medium as part of civic learning or can be taught in an artistic medium through drama or plays. UN General Assembly Resolution 73/148 advocates instilling in young children the importance of respecting and treating people with dignity and implementing activities in school that would foster this attitude in children.<sup>255</sup> UNESCO
- proposes the implementation of Comprehensive Sexuality Education (CSE) for all countries, a 'curriculum-based process of teaching and learning about the cognitive, emotional, physical and social aspects of sexuality'. <sup>256</sup>
- Younger learners in lower grades are introduced to simple concepts of family, respect and kindness and older learners are introduced to concepts such as gender-based violence.<sup>257</sup> Moreover, a study conducted by UNESCO in 2012 identified laws and

policies in 28 Asian and Pacific countries, which includes Sri Lanka, on the topic of sexuality education.<sup>258</sup> The study noted that HIV and sexual and reproductive health (SRH) education although a part of Sri Lanka's school curriculum is only mandatory for students in grades 6-9, leaving many students without access to this important information in grades 10-11.259 The study further observed that 5 out of 28 countries, had a legal framework that included a full set of laws and policies relating to sexual education. Some of the 15 countries include Bangladesh, Cambodia, China, India, Indonesia, Mongolia, Nepal, Pakistan and others. 260 Bangladesh, Philippines, and Vietnam have population and reproductive health policies that specify the need for sexuality education to be provided from the primary level'.261

- However, sex education has been a controversial issue in Sri Lanka.<sup>262</sup> There have been criticisms suggesting that sex education will undermine the culture and traditions in the country. This argument centers around the concept being westernised and therefore seeks to delegitimize it as a threat to traditional values and moral standards that are deeply rooted in the culture and traditions of Sri Lanka.<sup>263</sup>
- Roundtable suggestions on education include extending the education framework on workplace sexual harassment to talent pools within external staffing and recruiting companies, such as NightOwl Consulting.<sup>264</sup> Staffing agencies often offer free training/ courses to help market candidates.<sup>265</sup> A module on workplace sexual harassment can be incorporated into their training, which will be of use once they are hired by companies.<sup>266</sup>

# 6.7 SMALL AND MEDIUM ENTERPRISES & MULTI-NATIONAL CORPORATIONS

Small and Medium Enterprises & Multi-National Corporations can proactively prevent sexual harassment in all organizational activities and ensure survivor-centered grievance mechanisms. They can set tangible deliverables across the organisation that incorporate survivor centered sexual harassment into all organisational and corporate activities.<sup>267</sup> Tangible deliverables include enhancing the scope of trainings, regular information sharing on the punishment for sexual harassment, cross-department collaboration to detect sexual harassment etc.<sup>268</sup> Grievance mechanisms should revolve around policies that are 'survivor-centered' focusing on the needs of the survivor (dignity and best interests) in the grievance mechanism.<sup>269</sup> Employers and supervisors should receive training on non-discrimination, particularly towards minority groups in the workplace, and how to respond to victims/survivors of sexual harassment.

# **6.7.1 Small and Medium Enterprises**

The grievance mechanism can be structured around the size of the company. As noted earlier in the legislative reform section if a company has less than 10 employees, the law can stipulate the number of members required

to be in the investigation committee/panel and the requirement for equal gender representation. Smaller companies can appoint and train a designated officer who can function to address and update on complaints of sexual harassment at work.

In July 2019, Peru introduced a legislation requiring employers to set up a Sexual Harassment Committee or Delegate, depending on the size of the employer. In workplaces with fewer than 20 employees, an anti-sexual harassment delegate will assume the role of the Intervention Committee. The investigation procedure can be initiated by an involved party, at the request of the victim or a third party, or ex officio. 270 Once a workplace sexual harassment policy is enforced, it should be communicated to all staff and a method of acknowledgment should be facilitated to hold everyone accountable. As noted previously, the California Code of Regulations requires employers to construct a written policy on sexual harassment and disseminate to all employees who must acknowledge the policy by signing or emailing an acknowledgment.<sup>271</sup> During the round table discussion it was also suggested to

raise awareness on workplace sexual harassment policy to potential job hires at the interview itself.<sup>272</sup>

## 6.7.2 Multi-National Corporations

Larger companies can appoint an inquiring committee with equal representation of females, males and minority groups representatives. For instance, under the Law to Prevent Harassment in the Workplace in Japan, companies with more than 50 employees must put in place measures to prevent sexual harassment. Once a workplace sexual harassment policy is enforced, it should be communicated to all staff and a method of acknowledgment should be facilitated to hold everyone accountable.

KIIs conducted with a MNC in Sri Lanka noted that their policies cover workplace sexual harassment which includes bullying/discrimination based on sexual orientation are biannually reviewed and updated. During the updating process of these policies, global standards are drawn from to ensure that global best practices are contextualized.<sup>274</sup> Refreshers are also conducted every year on what the policies entail in addition to a mid-year performance review where sign-off is required for employees, in order to acknowledge the awareness of these policies. Biannual checks and monitoring are conducted on how much of the workforce has been trained. <sup>275</sup> However, these workplace policies only apply to the top tier of their workforce which makes up 10% of their employees.

According to the KII there are different mechanisms in place to address a grievance of workplace sexual harassment: 276 a) through an internal officer/ HR related and non-HR related who has been given specific trainings on how to handle complaints on workplace sexual harassment, b)through an online platform, c) through a toll-free hotline available in all 3 languages from 8 a.m. to 10 p.m (also a counseling helpline as well for private issues/mental health issues), d) speaking to Human Resources, where grievance boxes are also available along with counselors, and e) bystander intervention, where an employee can intervene if they feel safe enough, in a scenario involving workplace sexual harassment.

In terms of the procedure to handle a grievance, as per the KII, the following are some of the best practices which involves: -

- **a.** A preliminary investigation to assess complaint validity.<sup>277</sup>
- **b.** Sanction determined considering factors like negligence, past record, and intention.
- **c.** Outcomes categorized as 'extreme, high, low, or medium' with corresponding actions. <sup>278</sup>
- **d.** Interim measures to include remote work, safety support, and suspension of the perpetrator and transfers considered if necessary.
- **e.** Employees to have the option to file a police complaint alongside the internal inquiry.<sup>279</sup>

# 6.8 CHAMBERS OF COMMERCE

The Chambers of Commerce can promote the utilization of community helplines, including the Courage, Compassion, and Commitment Foundation (CCC Foundation) hotline, also known as the CCC line, and the Women in Need hotline.<sup>280</sup> CCC line is a free telephone counseling service, which aims to

provide emotional support and guidance to people facing various challenges. It encourages individuals of all ages to seek assistance for issues such as domestic violence, family disputes, mental health concerns, and more.<sup>281</sup> Women in Need hotline on the

- other hand is available 24 hours for any person to call and receive mental and psychological support.
- The Chambers of Commerce can conduct campaigns on preventing workplace sexual harassment.<sup>282</sup> In Ecuador the Chamber of Industries and Production (CIP) in October 2020, launched a comprehensive campaign on the prevention and elimination of violence against women at work, at home, at school and in society, which can be duplicated by Chambers of Commerce.
- The Chambers of Commerce can also incorporate the internal policies outlined in the civil bill on ILO 190 convention within its Code of Conduct/Code of Ethics for companies to follow. KIIs raised concerns of incentivizing companies to voluntarily report on their practices and policies on addressing workplace sexual harassment.<sup>283</sup> As an incentive for companies to abide by the Code and implement such policies, the Chambers of Commerce can introduce a system that awards companies annually for their positive enforcement of policies.

# 6.9 TRADE UNIONS

- Trade Unions can engage with Civil Society Organisations that are in the space of combatting sexual harassment, who may be able to assist in providing training and information sharing sessions which are unbiased. For instance, the German Equal General Treatment Act mandates employers to take all necessary steps to prevent sexual harassment and protect employees. This requirement extends to taking preventative measures, specifically in relation to training.<sup>284</sup> Under Article 2087 of the Italian Civil Code of Equal Opportunities, employers are required to agree with trade unions on informative and training initiatives aimed at preventing sexual harassment at work.<sup>285</sup>This model can be used for Sri Lanka as well by incorporating the requirement for employers to agree with Trade Unions conducting
- training sessions for employees. Trade unions should also partake in the development and implementation of a company's sexual harassment policy to ensure fair and transparent discussions.<sup>286</sup>
- Trade Unions can engage in the role of representing victims/survivors of sexual harassment in Court. In Gabon, Article 9 of the Law on the Fight against Harassment in the Workplace states that 'any representative trade union organisation or any legally declared association may, with the written agreement of the employee, bring any action on his/her behalf before the competent authorities or Court.'287

# 6.10 CIVIL SOCIETY ORGANISATIONS

- Civil Society Organisations can hold employers accountable in an approach which considers promoting and monitoring or naming and shaming a company in order to incentivize them to comply with sexual harassment policies. In Nepal, with the support of the ILO, a Convention No. 190 Action Group was established, whose members have been nominated by the Government and workers' and employers' organisations. The Action Group
- coordinates capacity-building activities for employers' and workers' organisations.
- To acknowledge and contribute to work that has been done to promote the prevention of workplace sexual harassment, participants at the roundtable discussion suggested creating an information repository as a collective effort to counter workplace sexual harassment which can build on existing resources.<sup>288</sup>

Have local platforms that actively address sexual harassment to empower women to seek help, effectively addressing the issue of underreporting and to shed light on the issue of sexual harassment in Sri Lanka by building a public conversation around the topic. By engaging with social media platforms and movements focused on combating sexual harassment, civil society organizations (CSOs) can play a pivotal role in addressing the issue and advocating for its prevention. They achieve this by not only encouraging victims/survivors of sexual harassment to step forward but also facilitating the redress process. Sexual harassment is among the most pervasive rights violations in the world and is disproportionately experienced by women.<sup>289</sup> As discussed in this report, regardless of the legal framework in place to combat sexual harassment, there is a phenomenon of underreporting due to social stigma and long delays in the criminal justice system. Furthermore, there is currently no credible data available on sexual harassment in the workplace in Sri Lanka.

The details of entities that currently exist in the sphere of workplace harassment and their contributions to counter workplace sexual harassment in Sri Lanka are discussed below.

The '#MeToo' movement which was coined in 2006 and took off in 2017 in the USA<sup>290</sup> which gave a platform to many women to come forward against sexual harassment of many forms, had a late bloom in Sri Lanka.<sup>291</sup> In 2021, an incident of sexual harassment that took place in the government media sector was publicized.<sup>292</sup> Further local social media movements include 'Not your nangi', 293 which aims at empowering women while also combatting sexual violence faced by women in Sri Lanka. Women in Need, 294 Women and Media Collective, 295 and 'Bakamoono'296 are few local organisations and social media movements that have a wide reach and are engaged in the protection of women who face sexual violence and sexual harassment, while assisting them in different capacities and providing them with a platform to raise their voices and speak their experiences.

# **Endnotes**

- International Labour Organization and Lloyd's Register Foundation, 'Experiences of violence and harassment at work: A global first survey', (2022), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/</a>—dgreports/—dcomm/documents/publication/wcms\_863095.pdf> [accessed 12 June 2023], p.3.
- 2 ibid
- 3 'The Impacts of Workplace Sexual Harassment' at < https:// www.respectatwork.gov.au/individual/understanding-workplace-sexual-harassment/impacts-workplace-sexual-harassment>[accessed 10 October 2023].
- 4 'The real cost of Workplace Sexual Harassment to Businesses' at < https://theconversation.com/the-real-cost-of-work-place-sexual-harassment-to-businesses-122107> [accessed 10 October 2023] provides 'a study has found an average damage of US\$22,500 per employee in lost productivity and employee turnover due to sexual harassment'.
- 5 Engage for Success, 'Why addressing sexual harassment at workplace is vital and how to effectively combat it', at < https:// engageforsuccess.org/productivity/why-addressing-sexualharassment-at-workplace-is-vital-and-how-to-effectivelycombat-it/>[accessed 07 September 2023]
- 6 ibid.
- 7 Employer's Federation of Ceylon (EFC) and International Labour Organization, 'Code of Conduct and Guidelines to Prevent and Address Sexual Harassment in Workplaces' (2013), at < https:// www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—-asia/—-ro-bangkok/-—ilo-colombo/documents/publication/wcms\_525537.pdf> [accessed 05 September 2023], p.1.
- 8 CEDAW, 'General recommendation No. 35 (2017) on gender-based violence against women, updating general recommendation No. 19 (1992)' at < https://www.ohchr.org/en/documents/general-comments-and-recommendations/general-recommendation-no-35-2017-gender-based> [accessed 07 September 2023].

  See also; International Labour Organization, 'C190 Vi-
  - See also; International Labour Organization, 'C190 Violence and Harassment Convention, 2019 (No. 190)', at < https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEX-PUB:12100:0::NO::P12100\_ILO\_CODE:C190>[accessed 07 September 2023]
- International Labour Organisation, 'Violence and harassment at work has affected more than one in five people', (05 Dec 2022), at
  - < https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/
    WCMS\_863177/lang—en/index.htm>[accessed 12 June 2023].
- 10 International Finance Corporation, 'Business Case for Creating Respectful Workplaces in Sri Lanka', (2022), at <a href="https://www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/mgrt/sri-lanka-report-5th-sept.pdf">https://www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/mgrt/sri-lanka-report-5th-sept.pdf</a>> [accessed 09 July 2023], p.11.

- ibid, p.30; Workplace violence and harassment as defined include, 'A range of unacceptable behaviors, or threats of these, once or repeatedly that aim to cause, actually cause, or are likely to cause, physical, psychological, sexual, or economic harm. These behaviors arise in, or are linked with the workplace, and include: • public and private spaces where work takes place; • places where the worker takes a break, a meal, or uses sanitary, washing, and changing facilities; • work-related trips, travel, training, events, or social activities; • work-related communications, including those enabled by information and communication technologies; • employer-provided accommodation; and • commuting to and from work'. International Finance Corporation, 'Business Case for Creating Respectful Workplaces in Sri Lanka', (2022), at <a href="https://www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/">https://www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/</a> mgrt/sri-lanka-report-5th-sept.pdf>[accessed 09 July 2023], p.9.
- USAID, 'Developing a Workplace Sexual Harassment Policy', at <a href="https://www.usaid.gov/engendering-industries/partners/ekedc-nigeria/developing-a-workplace-sexual-harass-ment-policy">https://www.usaid.gov/engendering-industries/partners/ekedc-nigeria/developing-a-workplace-sexual-harass-ment-policy</a> [accessed 08 July 2023].
- 13 Serena Does, Margaret Shih and Seval Gundemir, Harvard Business Review, 'Research: How Sexual Harassment Affects a Company's Public Image', (June 2018), at < https:// hbr.org/2018/06/research-how-sexual-harassment-affects-a-companys-public-image> [accessed 14 September 2023].
- 14 The World Bank, 'Gender Data Portal, Sri Lanka', at < https://genderdata.worldbank.org/countries/sri-lanka/>[accessed 10 October 2023].
- World Economic Forum, 'Global Gender Gap Report 2021', (March 2021), at <a href="https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_GGGR\_2021.pdf">https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_GGGR\_2021.pdf</a> [accessed 17 August 2023] p.353.
- International Labour Organization, 'Factor's affecting women's labour force participation in Sri Lanka', (2016) at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/--ro-bangkok/--ilo-co-lombo/documents/publication/wcms\_551675.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/--ro-bangkok/--ilo-co-lombo/documents/publication/wcms\_551675.pdf</a> [accessed 05 September 2023] p.3.
- 17 State Duties: Women's Participation in Sri Lanka's Workforce and the UNGPs, UNDP, Business and Human Rights, at < https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/lk/01UNDP\_Asia\_Issue\_Brief\_State-duties\_Women\_participation.pdf> [last accessed 10 October 2023] p.5
- 18 UN Women Sri Lanka, "Sexual harassment at work keeps women away from the workforce", (The Sunday Times, 2021), at < https://www.sundaytimes.lk/211128/business-times/sexual-harassment-at-work-keeps-women-away-from-the-workforce-463023.html> [accessed 14 September 2023]
- 19 International Labour Organization, 'Factor's affecting women's

labour force participation in Sri Lanka', (2016) at <a href="https://www.">https://www.</a> ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/--ro-bangkok/--ilo-colombo/documents/publication/wcms\_551675.pdf>[accessed 05 September 2023] p.7,9. Formal sector is defined by the ILO to include entities having an official recognition as distinct producers of goods or services, which can be based on: a)government ownership or control, b)legal separation from owners, c)maintaining comprehensive tax records, c)registration in a national system, or d)engaging in market production with formal employee(s). In contrast, the informal sector is defined by the ILO to constitute entities that do not have an official status as a market producer, typically characterized by: a) not being government-owned or controlled, b) lacking legal separation. from owners, c)not maintaining comprehensive tax records, d) absence of registration in a national system with benefits and obligations, and e)not employing formal employees

- 20 International Labour Organization, 'Factor's affecting women's labour force participation in Sri Lanka', (2016) at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/--ro-bangkok/--ilo-co-lombo/documents/publication/wcms\_551675.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/--ro-bangkok/--ilo-co-lombo/documents/publication/wcms\_551675.pdf</a> [accessed 05 September 2023], p.3.
- 21 ibid, p.29
- 22 UNDP, 'State Duties: Women's Participation In Sri Lanka's Workforce And The Ungps', (2021), at <a href="https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/bizhumanrights/a5dc5226d9387a495cb86588764001cac91e1e5b6880501b-c11a1c0f11f7458b.pdf">https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/bizhumanrights/a5dc5226d9387a495cb86588764001cac91e1e5b6880501b-c11a1c0f11f7458b.pdf</a> [accessed 07 July 2023], p.8.
- 23 UN Women Sri Lanka, 'Sexual harassment at work keeps women away from the workforce', (The Sunday Times, November 2021), at < https://www.sundaytimes.lk/211128/business-times/sexual-harassment-at-work-keeps-women-away-from-the-workforce-463023.html>[accessed 14 September 2023].
- 24 Paneetha Ameresekere, 'Harassment In Private Sector Not Confined To Women Alone – IFC Study', (Ceylon Today, 10 December 2022), at <a href="https://ceylontoday.lk/2022/12/10/">https://ceylontoday.lk/2022/12/10/</a> harassment-in-private-sector-not-confined-to-women-alone-ifc-study/> [accessed 12 June 2023].
- 25 Shara Arzooman Chowdhury, Equal Ground, 'A study on Work-place Discrimination, Challenges faced by LGBTIQ employees and the perspectives of employers in Sri Lanka', (2021) at <a href="https://www.equal-ground.org/wp-content/uploads/DAP-RE-PORT-FINAL.pdf?fbclid=lwAR0pbX-KLNTLerY4m1cXVX97aXY-95FwjHNs40AKmCl3Jupf1j9RyK08cAHQ">https://www.equal-ground.org/wp-content/uploads/DAP-RE-PORT-FINAL.pdf?fbclid=lwAR0pbX-KLNTLerY4m1cXVX97aXY-95FwjHNs40AKmCl3Jupf1j9RyK08cAHQ</a> [accessed 12 June 2023].
- 26 International Finance Corporation, 'Business Case for Creating Respectful Workplaces in Sri Lanka', (September 2022), at < https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/b46bc007-c5eb-4bcea3a7-171e8f484f97/Sri+lanka+Report\_5th+Sept.pdf?MOD=A-JPERES&CVID=oc.no5e> [accessed 11 June 2023] p.25,29.
- 27 Shara Arzooman Chowdhury, Equal Ground, 'A study on Work-place Discrimination, Challenges faced by LGBTIQ employees and the perspectives of employers in Sri Lanka', (2021) at <a href="https://www.equal-ground.org/wp-content/uploads/DAP-RE-PORT-FINAL.pdf?fbclid=lwAR0pbX-KLNTLerY4m1cXVX97aXY-95FwjHNs40AKmCl3Jupf1j9RyK08cAHQ">https://www.equal-ground.org/wp-content/uploads/DAP-RE-PORT-FINAL.pdf?fbclid=lwAR0pbX-KLNTLerY4m1cXVX97aXY-95FwjHNs40AKmCl3Jupf1j9RyK08cAHQ</a> [accessed 12 June 2023].
- 28 ibid.
- 29 ibid, p.11. Employers who were surveyed consisted of employers from top management (CEO, Managing Director, Executive Director etc.), human resource department (HR officer, HR manager etc.), administrative unit (administrative officer), program/service department (program officer, program manager, advocacy officer, convener etc.), media/communications department (editor, media and communications officer etc.), from finance department (accountant, finance officer etc.) spread across government, semi-government, non-government, private (local), multinational companies and international partnerships. The employers were selected from Colombo,

- Gampaha, Nuwara Eliya, Anuradhapura, and Kaluthara p.48-50
- 30 International Finance Corporation, 'Business Case for Creating Respectful Workplaces in Sri Lanka', (2022), at <a href="https://www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/mgrt/sri-lanka-report-5th-sept.pdf">https://www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/mgrt/sri-lanka-report-5th-sept.pdf</a> [accessed 09 July 2023], p.29
- 31 ibid.
- 32 ibid.
- 33 ibid, p.25.
- 34 ibid, p. 25.
- 35 UN Women, 'Sexual harassment against women with disabilities in the world of work and on campus', (2020), at <a href="https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/Headquarters/Attachments/Sections/Library/Publications/2020/Discussion-paper-Sexual-harassment-against-women-with-disabilities-en.pdf">https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/Headquarters/Attachments/Sections/Library/Publications/2020/Discussion-paper-Sexual-harassment-against-women-with-disabilities-en.pdf</a>> [accessed 30 June 2023] p.4,7.
- 36 ibid, p.4.
- 37 Verité Research, Verité Insights, 'Does Sri Lanka Need More Rules or Better Compliance?', (2023) at < https://www.veriteresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/20230425\_PFP\_ NeedForComplianceInsight\_F.pdf>[accessed 13 September 2023], p.1-2.
- 38 International Monetary Fund, 'IMF Country Report No.23/116', (March 2023), at p.24,103.
- 39 ibid, p.103
- 40 Akhila Randeniya and Chantal Dassanayake, Advocata, 'Sexual harassment in the workplace: High time to address labour laws', (14 May 2023), at <a href="https://www.advocata.org/commentary-archives/2023/05/14/https/wwwthemorninglk/articles/hkuae7ivyueeg60ci458#:-:text=The%20matter%20can%20be%20addressed,by%20a%20person%20in%20authority=[accessed 23 July 2023]; See also; International Labour Organization, 'Factor's affecting women's labour force participation in Sri Lanka', (2016) at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/--ro-bangkok/--ilo-colombo/documents/publication/wcms\_551675.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/--ro-bangkok/--ilo-colombo/documents/publication/wcms\_551675.pdf</a>> [accessed 05 September 2023], p.71.
- 41 International Monetary Fund, 'IMF Country Report No.23/116, March 2023', at p.24. See also; International Finance Corporation, 'Business Case for Creating Respectful Workplaces in Sri Lanka', (2022)at https://www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/mgrt/sri-lanka-report-5th-sept.pdf [accessed 09 July 2023], p.30.
- 42 KMPG, 'Addressing Human Rights in Business', (2016) at < https://assets.kpmg.com/content/dam/kpmg/xx/pdf/2016/11/ addressing-human-rights-in-business.pdf>[accessed 14 September 2023], p.1,16.
- 43 International Finance Corporation, 'Business Case for Creating Respectful Workplaces in Sri Lanka', (2022), at <a href="https://www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/mgrt/sri-lanka-report-5th-sept.pdf">https://www.ifc.org/content/dam/ifc/doc/mgrt/sri-lanka-report-5th-sept.pdf</a>> [accessed 09 July 2023], p.11, 41.
- 44 UNHCR, 'What is sexual exploitation, abuse and harassment?', at < https://www.unhcr.org/what-we-do/how-we-work/tackling-sexual-exploitation-abuse-and-harassment/what-sexual-exploitation> [accessed 12 June 2023]. See also; UNDP, 'A Checklist Based on UNDP's Policy- Examples of Sexual Harassment', > [accessed 12 June 2023].
- 45 UN Women Watch, 'What is sexual harassment' at <a href="https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf">https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf</a> [accessed 13 June 2023].
- 46 ibid. See also; ILO Employers Federation of Ceylon, 'Code of conduct and guidelines to prevent and address sexual harassment in workplaces,' (2013) at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—-asia/—-ro-bangkok/—-ilo-colombo/documents/publication/wcms\_525537.pdf>[accessed 15 August 2023], p.3
- 47 UN Womenwatch is a joint United Nations project created

- in March 1997 to provide an internet space for global gender equality issues and to support implementation of the 1995 Beijing Platform for Action. It was founded by the former entities UN Division for the Advancement of Women (DAW), United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM) and United Nations International Research and Training Institute for the Advancement of Women (INSTRAW) that have now merged into UN Women' at < https://www.un.org/womenwatch/about/>[accessed 16 October 2023].
- 48 UN Women Watch, 'What is sexual harassment', at <a href="https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf">https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf</a> [accessed 13 June 2023] See also; American Bar Association, 'The Law and your Job', at <a href="https://www.americanbar.org/groups/pub-lic\_education/resources/law\_issues\_for\_consumers/sexualharassment\_quidproquo/">https://www.americanbar.org/groups/pub-lic\_education/resources/law\_issues\_for\_consumers/sexualharassment\_quidproquo/</a> [accessed 14 June 2023].
- 49 International Labour Organization , 'Sexual Harassment at Work', at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--ed\_norm/--declaration/documents/publication/wcms\_decl\_fs\_96\_en.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--ed\_norm/--declaration/documents/publication/wcms\_decl\_fs\_96\_en.pdf</a> [accessed 13 September 2023].
  - See also; UN Women Watch, 'What is sexual harassment', at <a href="https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf">https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf</a> [accessed 13 June 2023].
- 50 American Bar Association, 'The Law and your Job', at <a href="https://www.americanbar.org/groups/public\_education/resources/law\_issues\_for\_consumers/sexualharassment\_quidproquo/">https://www.americanbar.org/groups/public\_education/resources/law\_issues\_for\_consumers/sexualharassment\_quidproquo/>[accessed 14 June 2023].
- 51 UN Women Watch, 'What is sexual harassment', at <a href="https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf">https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf</a> [accessed 13 June 2023].
- 52 American Bar Association, 'The Law and your Job', at < https://www.americanbar.org/groups/public\_education/resources/law\_issues\_for\_consumers/sexualharassment\_hostileenvironment/>[accessed 14 June 2023].
- 53 UN Women Watch, 'What is sexual harassment', at <a href="https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf">https://www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/whatissh.pdf</a> [accessed 13 June 2023].
- 54 UN Women, 'Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) for Youth' at <a href="https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2016/12/ce-daw-for-youth#:~:text=The%20Convention%20on%20the%20Elimination,women%27s%20and%20girls%27%20equal%20rights.">https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2016/12/ce-daw-for-youth#:~:text=The%20Convention%20on%20the%20Elimination,women%27s%20and%20girls%27%20equal%20rights.</a> [accessed 26 June 2023].
- 55 OHCHR, 'CEDAW', at <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-elimination-all-forms-discrimination-against-women">https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-elimination-all-forms-discrimination-against-women</a> [accessed 17 August 2023].
- 56 OHCHR, 'CEDAW', at < https://www.ohchr.org/en/treaty-bodies/cedaw>[accessed 17 August 2023].
- 57 UN, OHCHR, 'CEDAW' at <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-elimination-all-forms-discrimination-against-women">https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-elimination-all-forms-discrimination-against-women</a> [accessed 17 August 2023].
- 'CEDAW, Declarations, reservations, objections and notifications of withdrawal of reservations relating to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women', at < https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N06/309/97/PDF/N0630997.pdf?OpenElement>[accessed 02 August 2023]
- 59 DAG hammarskjöld library, 'What are General Comments of the Human Rights Treaty Bodies?', at < https://ask.un.org/faq/135547#:~:text=A%20general%20comment%20is%20a,approaches%20to%20implementing%20treaty%20provisions>[accessed 13 September 2023]
- 60 United Nations Office of the High Commissioner, 'General Recommendations CEDAW', at < https://www.ohchr.org/en/treaty-bodies/cedaw/general-recommendations> [accessed 02 August 2023]. See also; Centre for Women, Peace + Security,

- 'General Recommendations', at < https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/vaw/int/cedaw/general-recommendations/>[accessed 13 August 2023].
- DAG hammarskjöld library, 'What are General Comments of the Human Rights Treaty Bodies?', at <a href="https://ask.un.org/faq/135547#:~:text=A%20general%20comment%20is%20">https://ask.un.org/faq/135547#:~:text=A%20general%20comment%20is%20</a> a,approaches%20to%20implementing%20treaty%20provisions> [accessed 13 September 2023].
- 62 CEDAW, General Recommendations adopted by CEDAW General Recommendation No.12: Violence against women, 1989.
- 63 Oxford Human Rights Hub, 'CEDAW General Recommendation on Violence Against Women Updated', (2017), at < https:// ohrh.law.ox.ac.uk/cedaw-committee-general-recommendation-on-violence-against-women-updated/> [accessed 06 September 2023].
- 64 CEDAW, General Recommendations adopted by CEDAW General Recommendation No.19: Violence Against Women, 1992. Article 11
- 65 CEDAW, General Recommendations adopted by CEDAW General Recommendation No.35 on gender based violence against women updating general recommendation No.19, 2017, p.4,6.
- 66 Oxford Human Rights Hub, 'CEDAW General Recommendation on Violence Against Women Updated', (2017), at < https:// ohrh.law.ox.ac.uk/cedaw-committee-general-recommendation-on-violence-against-women-updated/> [accessed 06 September 2023].
- 67 Equal voices of the three parties: governments, employers, and workers are accounted for in the structure of the ILO.
- 68 International Labour Organisation, 'About the ILO', at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/lang-en/index.htm">https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/lang-en/index.htm</a> [accessed 01 July 2023].
- 69 International Labour Organisation, Violence and Harassment at Work', at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/violence-harass-ment/resources/WCMS\_738113/lang-en/index.htm">https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/violence-harass-ment/resources/WCMS\_738113/lang-en/index.htm</a>[accessed 01 July 2023].
- 70 Erica Martin, International Labour Organization, 'Achieving zero tolerance for workplace violence and harassment is possible through C190 ratification', (06 October 2021), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/caribbean/newsroom/WCMS\_822058/lang-en/index.htm">https://www.ilo.org/caribbean/newsroom/WCMS\_822058/lang-en/index.htm</a> [accessed 01 July 2023].
- 71 International Labour Organization, 'Sexual harassment in the world of work', (10 March 2020), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcm-sp5/groups/public/--dgreports/--gender/documents/brief-ingnote/wcms\_738115.pdf">https://wcms\_function.gr/wcms\_function.gr/groups/gro
- 72 Article 4 and Article 9 of the ILO Convention No.190
- 73 International Labour Organization, 'Ratifications of C190 Violence and Harassment Convention 2019 (No. 190)', <a href="https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11300:0::N0:11300:P11300\_INSTRUMENT\_ID:3999810">https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11300:0::N0:11300:P11300\_INSTRUMENT\_ID:3999810</a> [accessed 17 August 2023].
- 74 Key Informant Interview (KII) with the International Labour Organization
- 75 ibid
- 76 International Labour Organization, 'Experiences of violence and harassment at work: A global first survey', at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/global/publications/WCMS\_863095/lang-en/index.htm">https://www.ilo.org/global/publications/WCMS\_863095/lang-en/index.htm</a> [accessed 01 July 2023].
- 77 ibid, p.10.
- 78 ibid, p. 8.
- 79 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and harassment at work an employer's guide', at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS\_863395/lang\_en/index.htm">https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS\_863395/lang\_en/index.htm</a> [accessed 01 July 2023].
- 80 OHCHR, 'Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations' Protect, Respect and Rem-

- edy' Framework', at <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR\_EN.pdf">https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR\_EN.pdf</a> [accessed 8 July 2023].
- 81 ibid, p.1.
- 82 UN Guiding Principle 12,' Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights', (OHCHR.com), at <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR\_EN.pdf">https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Publications/GuidingPrinciplesBusinessHR\_EN.pdf</a> [accessed 08 July 2023], p.14.
- 83 ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work adopted in 1988 and amended in 2022.
- 84 Ministry of Women, Child Affairs and Social Empowerment, 'Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security 2023-2027', p. 71.
- 85 United Nations, 'Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Women', at <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/en/instru-ments-mechanisms/instruments/declaration-elimination-violence-against-women">https://ments-mechanisms/instruments/declaration-elimination-violence-against-women</a> [accessed 21 July 2023]. See also; United Nations, 'UN General Assembly Resolutions Tables', at <a href="https://research.un.org/en/docs/ga/quick/regular/48">https://research.un.org/en/docs/ga/quick/regular/48</a> [accessed 15 August 2023].
- 86 UN-iLibrary, 'Resolutions and Decisions Adopted by the General Assembly', at <a href="https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/periodi-cals/24120898">https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/periodi-cals/24120898</a> [accessed 23 July 2023].
- 87 UN General Assembly, 'Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 17 December 2018', (11 January 2019), at < https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N18/445/52/PDF/N1844552.pdf?OpenElement>[accessed 17 August 2023]. See also; United Nations, 'UN General Assembly Resolutions Tables', at <https://research.un.org/en/docs/ga/quick/regular/73 > [accessed 15 August 2023].
- 88 UN, OHCHR, ICESCR at < https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/international-covenant-economic-social-and-cultural-rights>[accessed 17 August 2023]
- 89 ibid
- 90 UN, Economic and Social Council, 'General comment No.23 (2016) on the right to just and favourable conditions of work', at < https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G16/087/51/PDF/G1608751.pdf?OpenElement>[accessed 17 August 2023].
- 91 Mario Gomez, Conor Hartnett and Dinesha Samararatne, Centre for Policy Alternatives, 'Constitutionalizing Economic And Social Rights In Sri Lanka', (2016) at <a href="https://www.cpalanka.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Working-Paper-7.pdf">https://www.cpalanka.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Working-Paper-7.pdf</a> [accessed 19 September 2023], p.23.
- 92 Oxford Bibliographies, 'Monism and Dualism in International Law', (2021), at < https://www.oxfordbibliographies.com/dis-play/document/obo-9780199796953/obo-9780199796953-0168. xml>[accessed 29 September 2023].
- 93 Article 27(15) of the Constitution of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka.
- 94 (2000) 1 Sri Lanka Law Reports 387
- 95 (2000) 3 Sri Lanka Law Reports 243
- 96 Mario Gomez, Conor Hartnett And Dinesha Samararatne, Centre for Policy Alternatives, 'Constitutionalizing Economic And Social Rights In Sri Lanka', CPA, (2016) at < https://www. cpalanka.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Working-Paper-7. pdf>[accessed 19 September 2023], p.24.
- 97 UN Treaty Body Database, 'Ratification Status for CEDAW Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women', at <a href="https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/15/">https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/15/</a> TreatyBodyExternal/Treaty.aspx?Treaty=CEDAW&Lang=en> [accessed 20 July 2023].
- 98 Advocata Institute, 'Gender Discriminatory Labour Laws in Sri Lanka and Female Labour Force Participation', (March 2022), at <a href="https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6a">https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6a</a>

- c0581ef/t/622620555b386e1d3b955569/1646665849826/Freedom+For+Her+Gender+Discriminatory+Labour+Laws+in+Sri+Lanka+and+Female+Labour+Force+Participation.pdf> [accessed 04 July 2023], p.13.
- 99 CEDAW, 'Concluding observations on the eighth periodic report of Sri Lanka' (2017), p.11.
- 100 Centre for Policy Alternatives, 'Legal Reform to Combat Sexual and Gender Based Violence', (November 2020), at < https:// www.cpalanka.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Law-Reformto-combat-SGBV-PART-1-General-Centre-for-Policy-Alternatives.pdf>[ accessed 15 August 2023] p.12.
- 101 International Labour Organization, 'Convention No.190', (30 January 2023), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/vio-lence-harassment/news/WCMS\_866892/lang-en/index.htm">https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/vio-lence-harassment/news/WCMS\_866892/lang-en/index.htm</a> [accessed on 20 July 2023]
- 102 International Labour Organization, 'Eliminating Violence and Harassment in the World of Work' at < https://www.ilo.org/ global/topics/violence-harassment/lang—en/index.htm>[accessed 01 August 2023]
- 103 Human Rights Council, "Report of the Working Group on the Universal Periodic Review", (2023) at < https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G23/036/66/PDF/ G2303666.pdf?OpenElement>[ accessed 13 September 2023]
- 104 United Nations, 'UN Treaty Body Database', at < https://tbin-ternet.ohchr.org/\_layouts/15/TreatyBodyExternal/treaty. aspx?treaty=cescr&lang=en>[accessed 17 August 2023].
- 105 United Nations, 'The Sustainable Development Agenda', at <a href="https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/develop-ment-agenda-retired/">https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/develop-ment-agenda-retired/</a> [accessed 21 July 2023].
- 106 Ministry of Women, Child Affairs and Social Empowerment, 'Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security 2023–2027', p. 92.
- 107 United Nations, 'Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Women', at <a href="https://www.ohchr.org/en/instru-ments-mechanisms/instruments/declaration-elimination-violence-against-women">https://www.ohchr.org/en/instru-ments-mechanisms/instruments/declaration-elimination-violence-against-women</a> [accessed 21 July 2023].
- 108 Ministry of Women, Child Affairs and Social Empowerment, Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security 2023-2027, p. 67.
- 109 Section 345 Penal Code of Sri Lanka
- 110 Sri Lanka vs. Abdul Rashak Kuthubdeen B839/93
- 111 Section 110 Anti-Corruption Act. See also; Interpretation section
- 112 Section 345 of the Penal Code
- 113 Examples stated in: International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206',(2021), at <.https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--dgreports/--gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf>[accessed 07 September 2023], p.41-42.
- 114 Ibid p.41.
- 115 Article 402, Penal Code of Gabon as amended in 2018; ibid p. 42.
- 116 Khyati Wikramanayake, 'Legal Reform to Combat Sexual and Gender-Based Violence Part 2-Online Sexual Violence', (November 2020), at <a href="https://www.cpalanka.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Law-Reform-to-combat-SGBV-PART-2-Online-Sexual-Violence-Centre-for-Policy-Alternatives.pdf">https://www.cpalanka.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Law-Reform-to-combat-SGBV-PART-2-Online-Sexual-Violence-Centre-for-Policy-Alternatives.pdf</a> [accessed 05 July 2023], p.9.
- 17 The activity of getting pleasure from secretly watching other people in sexual situations or, more generally, from watching other people's private lives. Also See; Maithree Wickramasinghe & Wijaya Jayatilaka, 'Beyond Glass Ceilings and Brick Walls Gender at the Workplace', Centre for Poverty Anal-

- ysis, at <a href="https://v1.cepa.lk/content\_images/publications/documents/187-S-Wickramasinghe-Beyond%20Glass%20Ceilings.pdf">https://w1.cepa.lk/content\_images/publications/documents/187-S-Wickramasinghe-Beyond%20Glass%20Ceilings.pdf</a> [accessed 05 July 2023].
- 118 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206',(2021), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--dgreports/--gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--dgreports/--gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf</a> [accessed 07 September 2023], p.35.
- 119 1993 3 Sri Lanka Law Reports 107
- 120 Bribery Act No.11 of 1954
- 121 Section 110 of Anti Corruption Act No. 9 of 2023
- 122 Anti-corruption Act No. 9 of 2023
- 123 Pavithra A. Kulasinghe, 'A Critical Analysis of Sexual Harassment at Workplace and The Remedies Available Under Sri Lankan Jurisdiction A Labour Law Perspective', (2022), at <a href="https://www.academia.edu/79205753/A\_Critical\_Analysis\_of\_Sexual\_Harassment\_at\_Workplace\_and\_The\_Remedies\_Available\_Under\_Sri\_Lankan\_Jurisdiction\_A\_Labour\_Law\_Perspective>[accessed 02 July 2023].
- 124 Verité Research, 'Sexual Harassment at the Workplace: Caught in the Fissures of Sri Lanka's Criminal Justice System, 2019
- 125 Thusith Thilina Malagoda vs. Paleketiyage Samanthi Manohari Palaketiya, S.C. (Appeal) No. 76/2018, judgment delivered on 12 February 2019, at <a href="http://www.supremeCourt.lk/images/documents/sc\_apeal\_76\_2018.pdf">http://www.supremeCourt.lk/images/documents/sc\_apeal\_76\_2018.pdf</a>.>
- 126 Verité Research, Sexual Harassment at the Workplace: Caught in the Fissures of Sri Lanka's Criminal Justice System, 2019
- 127 ibid.
- 128 Advocata Institute, 'Gender Discriminatory Labour Laws In Sri Lanka and Female Labour Force Participation', (March 2022), at <a href="https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6ac0581ef/t/622620555b386e1d3b955569/1646665849826/Freedom+For+Her+Gender+Discriminatory+Labour+Laws+in+Sri+Lanka+and+Female+Labour+Force+Participation.pdf">https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6ac0581ef/t/622620555b386e1d3b955569/1646665849826/Freedom+For+Her+Gender+Discriminatory+Labour+Laws+in+Sri+Lanka+and+Female+Labour+Force+Participation.pdf</a> [accessed 04 July 2023], p.32.
- 129 Key Informant Interview (KII) with legal practitioner.
- 130 ibid.
- 131 ibid.
- 132 'Future Proofing Sri Lanka's Legal System', (Echelon Magazine, September 2022), at <a href="https://www.echelon.lk/future-proofing-sri-lankas-legal-system/">https://www.echelon.lk/future-proofing-sri-lankas-legal-system/</a> [accessed 05 July 2023].
- 133 ibid.
- 134 ibid.
- 135 Advocata Institute, 'Gender Discriminatory Labour Laws In Sri Lanka And Female Labour Force Participation', (March 2022), at <a href="https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6ac0581ef/t/622620555b386e1d3b955569/1646665849826/Freedom+For+Her+Gender+Discriminatory+Labour+Laws+in+Sri+Lanka+and+Female+Labour+Force+Participation.pdf">https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6ac0581ef/t/622620555b386e1d3b955569/1646665849826/Freedom+For+Her+Gender+Discriminatory+Labour+Laws+in+Sri+Lanka+and+Female+Labour+Force+Participation.pdf</a> [accessed 04 July 2023], p.33.
- 136 ibid.
- 137 ibid.
- 138 UNDP, 'State Duties: Women's Participation In Sri Lanka's Workforce And The Ungps', (2021), at <a href="https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/bizhumanrights/a5dc5226d9387a495cb86588764001cac91e1e5b6880501b-c11a1c0f11f7458b.pdf">https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/bizhumanrights/a5dc5226d9387a495cb86588764001cac91e1e5b6880501b-c11a1c0f11f7458b.pdf</a> [accessed 07 July 2023], p.6.
- 139 Advocata Institute, 'Gender Discriminatory Labour Laws In Sri Lanka And Female Labour Force Participation', (March 2022), at <a href="https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6ac0581ef/t/622620555b386e1d3b955569/1646665849826/Freedom+For+Her+Gender+Discriminatory+Labour+Laws+in+S-ri+Lanka+and+Female+Labour+Force+Participation.pdf">https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6ac0581ef/t/622620555b386e1d3b955569/1646665849826/Freedom+For+Her+Gender+Discriminatory+Labour+Laws+in+S-ri+Lanka+and+Female+Labour+Force+Participation.pdf</a> [accessed 04 July 2023], p.33.

- 140 ibid.
- 141 Human Rights Commission urged to stop sexual harassment at police stations, (The Leader, July 2021) at < https://english. theleader.lk/news/1500-human-rights-commission-urgedto-stop-sexual-harassment-at-police-stations>[accessed 15 August 2023].
- 142 Key Informant Interview (KII) conducted with legal practitioner.
- 143 ihid
- 144 Ministry of Labour and Foreign Employment, 'Ministry Information', at <a href="https://labourmin.gov.lk/ministry-information/">https://labourmin.gov.lk/ministry-information/</a> [accessed 22 July 2023].
- 145 International Labour Organization, 'Sri Lanka Labour inspection structure and organization', at < https://www.ilo.org/global/ topics/safety-and-health-at-work/country-profiles/asia/ sri-lanka/WCMS\_209369/lang\_en/index.htm>[accessed 15 August 2023].
- 146 ibid.
- 147 Advocata Institute, 'Gender Discriminatory Labour Laws In Sri Lanka And Female Labour Force Participation', (March 2022), at <a href="https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6ac0581ef/t/622620555b386e1d3b955569/1646665849826/Freedom+For+Her+Gender+Discriminatory+Labour+Laws+in+Sri+Lanka+and+Female+Labour+Force+Participation.pdf">https://static1.squarespace.com/static/55697ab8e4b084f6ac0581ef/t/622620555b386e1d3b955569/1646665849826/Freedom+For+Her+Gender+Discriminatory+Labour+Laws+in+Sri+Lanka+and+Female+Labour+Force+Participation.pdf</a> [accessed 04 July 2023], p.13.
- 148 ibid.
- 149 ibid.
- 150 Attorney General's Department, 'Role and Function', at <a href="https://www.attorneygeneral.gov.lk/?page\_id=1261">https://www.attorneygeneral.gov.lk/?page\_id=1261</a> [accessed 23 July 2023].
- 151 Code of Criminal Procedure Act, No.15 of 1979
- 152 Sri Lanka Police, Performance Report, 2022, at <a href="https://www.parliament.lk/uploads/documents/paperspresent-ed/1689659159014196.pdf">https://www.parliament.lk/uploads/documents/paperspresent-ed/1689659159014196.pdf</a> [accessed 24 October 2023]
- 153 CEDAW, Concluding observations on the eighth periodic report of Sri Lanka, 2017.
- 154 Section 109 (1) Every information relating to the commission of an offence may be given orally or in writing to a police officer or inquirer.
- Dimithri Wijesinghe and Chenelle Fernando, 'Discussing the undiscussed Taboo Sri Lanka', (The Morning.lk, February 2019) at <a href="https://www.themorning.lk/articles/20691">https://www.themorning.lk/articles/20691</a> [accessed 23 July 2023].
- Shihara Maduwage, 'Violence Against Women in Sri Lanka', (DailyFT, December 2020), at < https://www.ft.lk/columns/ Violence-against-women-in-Sri-Lanka/4-710091> [accessed 15 August 2023].
- 157 UNDP Sri Lanka, 'Protecting the vulnerable', (May 2021), at <a href="https://undpsrilanka.exposure.co/cc96a6405ae-b62eb239d07d260b8714c">https://undpsrilanka.exposure.co/cc96a6405ae-b62eb239d07d260b8714c</a> [accessed 15 August 2023].
- 158 Roundtable discussion with Civil Society Organisation
- 159 Sri Lanka brief, 'Sri Lanka SC issues 20 strict guidelines for law enforcement',(2019), at < https://srilankabrief.org/sri-lanka-scissues-20-strict-guidelines-for-law-enforcement/>[accessed 15 August 2023].
- 160 ibid
- 161 'Human Rights Commission urged to stop sexual harassment at police stations', (The Leader, July 2021) at < https://english. theleader.lk/news/1500-human-rights-commission-urgedto-stop-sexual-harassment-at-police-stations>[accessed 15 August 2023].
- 162 Department of Labour, 'Industrial Court', at <a href="https://labour-dept.gov.lk/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=94&Itemid=80&Iang=en>[accessed 13 August 2023].">August 2023].</a>
- 163 National Human Resources and Employment Policy (2011), the

- National Policy for Decent Work in Sri Lanka (2006) and the National Action Plan for the Protection and Promotion of Human Rights (2017–2021).
- 164 National Labour Migration Policy (2009; revised and currently pending Cabinet approval) and the Policy Framework and National Plan of Action to address Sexual and Gender-Based Violence in Sri Lanka: 2016–2020 (2015).
- 165 Ministry of Women, Child Affairs and Social Empowerment, Women, Peace And Security, 'Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security', (2022).
- 166 ibid, p.25.
- 167 The World Bank, 'Gender data portal', (2022) at <a href="https://genderdata.worldbank.org/indicators/sg-leg-sxhr-em/">https://genderdata.worldbank.org/indicators/sg-leg-sxhr-em/</a> [accessed 08July 2023]. This statistic could not account for 28 countries from which data could not be collected.
- 168 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work, Guide on Convention No.190 and Recommendation No.206', (2021) at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/</a>—-dgreports/—-gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf>[accessed 17 August 2023].
- 169 Examples stated in: International Labour Organization, Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206',(2021), at < https:// www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—-dgreports/—-gender/ documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf>[accessed 07 September 2023], p.48.
- 170 Labour Code 2018 subsection 122 (1)
- 171 Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended in 2020
- 172 2019 Accessible Canada Act
- 173 The 2020 standards for work integrated learning activities regulations
- 174 Yukon Territory: The Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended in 2020
- 175 Section 19 of the Safe Spaces Act
- 176 ibid
- 177 New York State Labor Law (sect. 593)
- 178 Civil Rights Act of 1964
- 179 Act No.83, 2019
- 180 Law to prevent, punish and eradicate violence against women in public and private sphere, and violence against family members". Article 11
- 181 Supreme Decree N° 014-2019-TR
- 182 Labour Policy Comprehensive Promotion Act Article 30-2, para 1(2019)
- 183 Child and Family Care Leave Act and Equal Opportunity Act
- 184 Power Harassment Prevention Act of 2020
- 185 Law to Prevent Harassment in the Workplace
- 186 Mexican Official Standard NOM-035-STPS-2018 (NOM-035) Article 4 (12)
- 187 Section 47 of the Federal Labour Code,
- 188 Section 10 of the Labour Law No.37/2015
- 189 Article 8 of the 2013 Employment Relationships Act
- 190 Article 402 of the Penal Code
- 191 2016 Law on the Fight against Harassment in the Workplace
- 192 Article 9 of the Law on the Fight against Harassment in the Workplace:
- 193 Article 7 of the Law on the Fight against Harassment in the Workplace, 2016
- 194 Article 8 of the Law on the Fight against Harassment in the Workplace, 2016
- 195 2016 Law on the Fight against Harassment in the Workplace -

- Article 3
- 196 Article 4 of the 2016 Law on the Fight against Harassment in the Workplace
- 197 Best practices taken through examples stated in: International Labour Organization, Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/--gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf</a> [accessed 18 September 2023].
- 198 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work, Guide on Convention No.190 and Recommendation No.206', (2021) at (<a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/</a>—-dgreports/—-gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf> [accessed 17 August 2023], p.79.
- 199 ibid, p.11.
- 200 ibid, p.72.
- 201 ibid, p.52.
- 202 ibid, p.64.
- 203 ibid, p.41.
- 204 ibid, p.33.
- 205 ibid, p.33.
- 206 ibid, p.83.
- 207 ibid, p.75.
- 208 ibid, p.46.
- 209 ibid,p.72.
- 210 ibid, p.22. 211 ibid, p.16.
- 212 ibid, p.18.
- 047 11 1 44
- 213 ibid, p.11.
- 214 Shan Yahampath, 'Urgent reforms needed for Sri Lanka's century-old labour laws', (Daily FT, July 2023) at <a href="https://www.ft.lk/columns/Urgent-reforms-needed-for-Sri-Lanka-s-century-old-labour-laws/4-750255">https://www.ft.lk/columns/Urgent-reforms-needed-for-Sri-Lanka-s-century-old-labour-laws/4-750255</a> [accessed 09 July 2023].
- 215 ibid
- 216 Key Informant Interview (KII) with the International Labour Organization.
- 217 Article 1, International Labour Organization. Convention 190, Violence and Harassment Convention, 2019, (No.190)(a) defines the term "violence and harassment" in the world of work refers to a range of unacceptable behaviours and practices, or threats thereof, whether a single occurrence or repeated, that aim at, result in, or are likely to result in physical, psychological, sexual or economic harm, and includes gender-based violence and harassment; (b) the term "gender-based violence and harassment" means violence and harassment directed at persons because of their sex or gender, or affecting persons of a particular sex or gender disproportionately, and includes sexual harassment.
- 218 International Finance Corporation, 'Business Case for Creating Respectful Workplaces in Sri Lanka', (September 2022), at<a href="https://www.ifc.org/en/insights-reports/2022/business-case-for-creating-respectful-workplaces-in-sri-lanka">https://www.ifc.org/en/insights-reports/2022/business-case-for-creating-respectful-workplaces-in-sri-lanka</a> [accessed 11 June 2023],p.25,29.
- 219 University of Colombo, 'Policy Against Sexual Harassment and Procedural Steps for Enforcement', <a href="https://cmb.ac.lk/poli-cy-against-sexual-harassment">https://cmb.ac.lk/poli-cy-against-sexual-harassment</a> [accessed 08 July 2023].
- 220 ibid. The policy was looked at on its face, however this study has not assessed the implementation of this policy to determine if it is an effective police or not.
- 221 ADP, 'Who is required to have a harassment prevention policy?', (2022), at < https://sbshrs.adpinfo.com/blog/who-is-required-to-have-a-harassment-prevention-policy > [accessed 15 August 2023].

- 222 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/ groups/public/—-dgreports/—-gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf> [accessed 07 September 2023], p.32.
- 223 PoSH at work, 'Internal Committee', at < https://poshatwork. com/internal-complaints-committee/>[accessed 30 September 2023].
- 224 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—-dgreports/—-gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf>[accessed 07 September 2023], p.22.
- 225 ibid, p. 41.
- 226 ibid.
- 227 CMS, 'Sexual Harassment at the Workplace in Belgium', at <a href="https://cms.law/en/int/expert-guides/cms-expert-guide-on-sexual-harassment-in-the-workplace/belgium">https://cms.law/en/int/expert-guides/cms-expert-guide-on-sexual-harassment-in-the-workplace/belgium</a> [accessed 15 August 2023].
- 228 Examples stated in: International Labour Organization,
  'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on
  Convention 190 and Recommendation 206',(2021), at < https://
  www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—-dgreports/—-gender/
  documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf > [accessed 07
  September 2023], p.80.
- 229 ibid, p.77.
- 230 International Labour Organization and Lloyd's Register Foundation, 'Experiences of violence and harassment at work: A global first survey', (2022), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/</a>—-dgreports/—-dcomm/documents/publication/wcms\_863095.pdf> [accessed 06 September 2023], p.71.
- 231 International Labour Organization, 'Germany', <a href="https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p\_lang=en&p\_isn=77201#:~:-text=Equality%20of%20opportunity%20and%20treatment&text=The%20aim%20of%20this%20law,handicap%2C%20age%20or%20sexual%20identity>[accessed 30 September 2023].
- 232 International Labour Organization and Lloyd's Register Foundation, 'Experiences of violence and harassment at work: A global first survey', (2022), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—-dgreports/—-dcomm/documents/publication/wcms\_863095.pdf > [accessed 06 September 2023], p.60.
- 233 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206'(2021), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--dgreports/--gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--dgreports/--gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf</a> [accessed 07 September 2023], p.20.
- 234 ibid, p.74.
- 235 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206'(2021), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/</a>—dgreports/—gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf > [accessed 07 September 2023], p.35.
- 236 Attorney General's Department, 'Child Protection Unit', at<
  https://www.attorneygeneral.gov.lk/?page\_id=1245#:~:text=Accordingly%2C%20a%20special%20unit%20was,the%20
  conclusion%20of%20such%20files.>[accessed 23 October 2023]
- 237 UNICEF Country Office Annual Report Sri Lanka 2019, at < https://www.unicef.org/media/90781/file/Sri-Lanka-2019-COAR.pdf> p.1.
- 238 ibid.
- 239 ibid.
- 240 Roundtable discussion with private sector representatives.
- 241 Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) with the International Labour

- Organization.
- 242 ibid.
- 243 Ministry of Women, Child Affairs and Social Empowerment, 'Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security 2023-2027', p. 30.
- 244 UN Habitat, 'SpeakUP: An app on the Prevention of Sexual Harassment and Abuse in the Workplace', at < https://unhabitat.org/speakup-an-app-on-the-prevention-of-sexual-harassment-and-abuse-in-the-workplace> [accessed 04 August 2023].
- 245 Ministry of Women, Child Affairs and Social Empowerment, Women Help Line 1938 faster response for the protection of women, at < http://www.childwomenmin.gov.lk/institutes/national-committee-women/1938-womens-help-line#:~:-text=1938%20is%20operated%20every%20weekday,trust-ed%20service%20for%20their%20clients. > [accessed 24 October 2023]
- 246 https://srilankabrief.org/sri-lanka-pandemic-related-domestic-violence-victims-dont-often-get-the-desired-help/ [accessed 23 October 2023]
- 247 Ibid
- 248 UN Habitat, 'SpeakUP: An app on the Prevention of Sexual Harassment and Abuse in the Workplace', at < https://unhabitat.org/speakup-an-app-on-the-prevention-of-sexual-harassment-and-abuse-in-the-workplace > [accessed 04 August 2023].
- 249 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--dgreports/--gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--dgreports/--gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf</a> [accessed 07 September 2023], p.71.
- 250 POSH Trainer, 'Top 10 Criticisms of PoSH Act', (2021), at < https://poshtrainer.in/criticism-of-posh-act/#:~:tex-t=Although%20the%20SHE%20Box%20(introduced,have%20 to%20identify%20a%20perpetrator > [accessed 30 September 2023]
- 251 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—-dgreports/—-gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf> [accessed 07 September 2023], p.75.
- 252 Ministry of Women, Child Affairs and Social Empowerment, 'Sri Lanka's National Action Plan for the Implementation of the UN Security Council's Resolutions on Women, Peace and Security 2023-2027', p. 44.
- 253 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/ groups/public/—-dgreports/—-gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf> [accessed 07 September 2023], p.83.
- 254 ibid
- 255 UN General Assembly Resolution 73/148
- 256 UNESCO, 'Comprehensive sexuality education: For healthy, informed and empowered learners', (2012) at < https://www.unesco.org/en/health-education/cse#:~:text=Sexuality%20 education%20has%20positive%20effects,or%20STI%2F-HIV%20infection%20rates>[accessed 17 September 2023].
- 257 ibid.
- 258 UNESCO, 'Comprehensive sexuality education: For healthy, informed and empowered learners', at < https://www.unesco.org/en/health-education/cse#:~:text=Sexuality%20education%20has%20positive%20effects,or%20STI%2FHIV%20 infection%20rates>[accessed 17 September 2023].
- 259 ibid p.35.
- 260 Andrea Casey, Next GenerAsian, 'Asia's Inadequate Sexual-

- ity Education', (January 2021), at < https://nextgenerasian.wixsite.com/nextgenerasian/post/asia-s-inadequate-sexuality-education#:~:text=UNESCO%20detailed%3A,%2C%20Nepal%2C%20Pakistan%20and%20others > [accessed 17 September 2023].
- 261 ibid.
- 262 Methmalie Dissanayake, 'Walking the Tightrope between Sex Education and Culture', (Ceylon Today, 2023), at < https:// ceylontoday.lk/2023/05/20/walking-the-tightrope-between-sex-education-and-culture/ > [accessed 30 September 2023]
- 263 Methmalie Dissanayake, 'Walking the Tightrope between Sex Education and Culture', (Ceylon Today, 2023), at < https:// ceylontoday.lk/2023/05/20/walking-the-tightrope-between-sex-education-and-culture/ > [accessed 30 September 2023]
- 264 Round table conducted with private sector representatives
- 265 Indeed, 'Career guide: How do Staffing Agencies work?', at < https://www.indeed.com/career-advice/finding-a-job/how-do-staffing-agencies-work>[accessed 30 September 2023].
- 266 Roundtable discussion conducted with private sector representatives.
- 267 World Bank Group, 'WBG action plan for Preventing and Addressing Sexual Harassment', (2022), at < https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/895091561658673520-0090022019/original/WBGSexualHarassmentActionPlanFINALPublic.pdf>[accessed 09 July 2023].
- 268 ibid.
- 269 USAID, 'Developing a Workplace Sexual Harassment Policy', at <a href="https://www.usaid.gov/engendering-industries/part-ners/ekedc-nigeria/developing-a-workplace-sexual-harass-ment-policy">https://www.usaid.gov/engendering-industries/part-ners/ekedc-nigeria/developing-a-workplace-sexual-harass-ment-policy</a> [accessed 08 July 2023].
- 270 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—-dgreports/—-gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf>[accessed 07 September 2023], p.68.
- 271 ADP, 'Who is required to have a harassment prevention policy?', (31 May 2022), at < https://sbshrs.adpinfo.com/blog/who-is-required-to-have-a-harassment-prevention-policy>[accessed 15 August 2023].
- 272 Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) conducted with Civil Society Organizations
- 273 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/ groups/public/—-dgreports/—-gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf> [accessed 07 September 2023], p.32.
- 274 Key informant Interview (KII) conducted with an economic enterprise.
- 275 ibid.
- 276 ibid.
- 277 ibid.
- 278 ibid.
- 279 ibid.
- 280 International Finance Corporation, 'Business Case for Creating Respectful Workplaces in Sri Lanka', (14 September 2022), at <a href="https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/b46bc007-c5eb-">https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/b46bc007-c5eb-</a>

- 4bce-a3a7-171e8f484f97/Sri+lanka+Report\_5th+Sept.pdf?-MOD=AJPERES&CVID=oc.no5e>[accessed 02 August 2023], p.36.
- 281 CCC Foundation, 'CCCline', at < http://cccfoundation.org.au/cccline/>[accessed 15 August 2023].
- 282 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/ groups/public/—dgreports/—gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf > [accessed 07 September 2023], p.53.
- 283 Key Informant Interviews (KII's) conducted with Civil Society Organizations
- 284 Dr André Zimmermann, American Bar Association, 'Germany #MeToo in Germany Employer's Obligations to Act', (June 2018), at < https://www.americanbar.org/groups/labor\_law/publications/ilelc\_newsletters/issue-june-2018/germany-metoo-in-germany/>[accessed 15 August 2023].
- 285 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—dgreports/—gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf>[accessed 07 September 2023], p.64.
- 286 International Labour Organization, 'Code of conduct on sexual harassment at the workplace Unofficial Translation', (May 2015) at <a href="https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/--ro-bangkok/--ilo-hanoi/documents/publication/wcms\_421220.pdf">https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--asia/--ro-bangkok/--ilo-hanoi/documents/publication/wcms\_421220.pdf</a> [accessed 15 August 2023].
- 287 International Labour Organization, 'Violence and Harassment in the World of Work: A Guide on Convention 190 and Recommendation 206', (2021), at < https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/—-dgreports/—-gender/documents/publication/wcms\_814507.pdf>[accessed 07 September 2023], p.71.
- 288 ibid
- 289 Relief web, 'Violence against women, one of the most pervasive human rights violation around the world Helen Clark', at <a href="https://reliefweb.int/report/world/violence-against-women-one-most-pervasive-human-rights-violations-around-world-helen#:~:text=Violence%20against%20women%20occurs%20on,mostly%20by%20an%20intimate%20partner> [accessed 18 October 2023].
- 290 Encyclopedia Britannica, 'Me Too Movement', (October 2023), at <a href="https://www.britannica.com/topic/Me-Too-movement">https://www.britannica.com/topic/Me-Too-movement</a> [accessed 09 July 2023].
- 291 Al-Jazeera, Sri Lanka's belated #MeToo movement starts from its newsrooms, 2021, at <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/6/23/sri-lanka-metoo-newsrooms-women-journalists">news/2021/6/23/sri-lanka-metoo-newsrooms-women-journalists</a> [accessed 09 July 2023].
- 292 ibid
- 293 Mahika Panditha, 'Nabeela Yaseen The lady behind Stoned Jewelry and Not Your Nangi', (The Morning, February 2022) at <a href="https://www.themorning.lk/articles/191148">https://www.themorning.lk/articles/191148</a> [accessed 01 August 2023]
- 294 Women in Need, 'About us', at <a href="https://www.winsl.net/about-us/">https://www.winsl.net/about-us/</a> [accessed 01 August 2023].
- 295 Women and Media Collective, 'Who we are', at <a href="https://womenandmedia.org/who-we-are/">https://womenandmedia.org/who-we-are/</a> [accessed 01 August 2023].
- 296 Bakamoono.lk, 'Who we are', at < http://www.bakamoono.lk/en/who\_are\_we>[accessed 01 August 2023].



